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PRESIDENTIAL ST ATE.MENT 

September 8, 1974 

. . 

L:'\DIES AND GENTLEi\.-IEN~ I HAVE CO!v1E TO A DECISI00i 'WHICH 

I FELT I SHOULD TELL YOU, AND ALL 1v1.Y FELLO'N CITIZEN'S, AS 

SOON ..-·\S I VIAS CERTAL.'i IN ~1Y 0\VN MIND AND CONSCIENCE TH..4.T 

IT IS THE RIGHT THING TO DO. 

I HAVE LEAH.NED ALREADY IN THIS OFFICE TIL<\T ONLY THE 

DIFFICULT DECISIONS C0)v1E TO THIS DESK. I MUST ADrviiT THAT 

MANY OF THE?-A. DO NOT LOOK AT .ALL THE SAf\;[E AS THE HYPO-

THETICAL QUESTIONS THAT I HAVE ANS'\VERED FREELY AND PERH_<\PS 

TOO FAST ON PREVIOUS OCCASIONS. :MY CUSTO::VL"'RY POLICY IS TO 

TRY A~;D GET ALL THE FACTS AND TO CONSIDER THE OPINIONS 

OF }.fY COGNTRY~.IEN AND TO TAKE COUNSEL WITH 1-IY ~'lOST VALUED 

FR!E;:,;ns. BUT T.EESE SELD0~1 AG~EE, AND IN THE E0i'D TiLS DECISIO::.i 

IS ~UNE. 

·-
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TO PR OCR ASTIN..:-\ T E, TO P.GO.:\"IZ E, T.O W .l~IT FOR A MORE 

F .A VORABLE TURN OF EVENTS THAT MAY NEVER CO~t~:, OR l\10RE 

CO:\·!PELLING EXTERNAL PRESSURES THAT J:vlAY AS WELL BE 

WRO:'{G AS RIGHT, IS ITSELF.!:\ DECISION OF SORTS _.;ND A WEAK 

AND POTENTI..:'\LL Y DANGEROUS COURSE FOR A .PRESIDENT TO FOLLC 

I HAVE PRO}vliSED TO UPHOLD THE CONSTITUTION, TO DO WHAT 

IS RIGHT .AS GOD GIVES ME TO SEE THE RIGHT, AND TO DO THE 

VERY BEST I CAN FOR ArviERICA. I HAVE ASKED YOUR HELP AND 

YOUR PR_.; YERS, NOT ONLY 'WHEN I BECAME PRESIDENT, BUT 

M--4NY TL.v!ES SINCE. 

THE CONSTITUTION IS THE SUPRElv!E L_.; Vf OF OUR LAND Ai'lD 

IT GOVERNS OUR ACTI00i"S AS CITIZENS.. ONLY THE LA 'VS OF GOD, 

'VH!CH GOVERN OUR CONSCIENCES, ARE SUPERIOR TO IT.. AS WE 

ARE}\ i'L~TION UNDER GOD.., SO I ,...;).-1 SWORN TO UPHOLD OUR LAWS 

Vl!TH THE HELP OF GOD. AND I H_L\ VE SOUGHT SUCH GUIDANCE 

.... 
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.. 
AND SEARCHED l\tlY OWN CONSCIENCE WITH SPECIAL DILIGENCE 

TO DETER~1INE THE RIGET THING FOR iv1E TO DO :wiTH RESPECT TO 

MY PREDECESSOR !!.'I THIS PL_I\CE .. RICH-1\R D NL'XO.)i, AND HIS LOY .AL 

WIFE AND F AlYULY • 

. , 
THEIRS IS AN A~1ERICAN TRAGEDY IN WHICH "WE ALL HAVE PLAYEl 

A PART. IT CAN GO ON .AND ON ~AND b~, OB. SO.LvrZONS..-:1\!US.T.~ '"NRITE 

"THE END" TO IT. 

I HAVE CONCLUDED TF-'i. T ONLY I CAN no·· .THAT. .AND IF I CAN, 

. . I h.-lUST. 

THERE ARE NO HISTORIC OR LEGAL PRECEDENTS TO 1VHICH I 

CAN TURN IN THIS M_l\TTER, NONE THAT PRECISELY FIT THE 

CIRCU11.1Sl"ANCES OF A PRIVATE CITIZEN WHO HAS RESIGNED TEE 
. '-

PRESIDENCY OF T.HE D""NITED STATES. BUT IT IS C0~1~10N KNO\'TLEDG~ 

THAT SERIOUS i\LLEGATIONS AND ACCUSATIONS H_L\NG LIKE A SWORD 

OVER OUR FORMER PRESIDENT'S HE_I\D .AS HE TRIES TO RESHAPE 

.. 
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HIS LIFE, A GREAT PART OF ViHICH ViAS SPE::-IT IN THE SERVICE 

OF TillS COUNTRY A!>iD BY THE: ~L'-\NDATE OF ITS PEOPLE. 

) 

AFTER YEARS OF BITTER CONTROVERSY .A.ND DIVISIVE NATIO::;.:IAL 

· DEBATE, I HAVE BEEN ADVISED AND A?vL CO)<lPELLED TO CONCLUDE . 
THAT .MANY MONTHS AND PERHAPS .MORE YE},RS V/ILL HAVE TO P.l\SS 

BEFORE lUC:tL<\RD NL"'{ON COULD EOPE TO OBTAIN A FAIR TRIAL BY 

JURY IN .ANY JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES UNDER GOVERNli>IG 

DECISIONS OF THE SUPRE:i\tlE COURT. 

I DEEPLY BELIEVE IN EQUAL JUSTICE FOR ALL _t\MERICANS, 

WHATEVER THEIR STATION OR FOR~!ER STATION. THE LA'N, WHET:riER 

HUMAN oa DIVINE, IS NO RESPECTER OF PERSONS BUT THE LA\'l IS A 

RESPECTER OF REALITY. THE F_.;CTS AS I SEE THE?vl ARE THAT A 

FORMER PRESIDE0iT OF THE "C~ITED ST~~\TES, L.'JSTE_-\D OF ENJOYE',·G 

EQU.AL TREATi\lENT WITH ANY OTHZR CITIZEX ACCUSED OF VIOL.:\TIXG 

THE LA '.V, WOULD BE CRUELLY .el.:-ID EXCESS!'./E:L Y PENALIZED EITHER 

I 
I 
1 

I 
I 
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IN PRESER VI.;{G THE PRESU.MPTIO:::l" OF HIS 1::-l::-i'OCENCE OR IN 

OBTAIN4-iG A SPEEDY DETERMINATION OF HIS GUILT IN ORDER TO 

REPAY A LEGAL DEBT TO SOCIETY. 

DURL.'\l'G Tl-1'15 LONG PERIOD OF DELAY AND POTENTIAL LITIGATION, 

UGLY PASSIONS WOULD AGAIN BE AROUSED, OUR PEOPLE WOULD AGAI~I 

BE POLARIZED IN THEIR OPINIO){S, AND THE CREDIBILITY OF OUR 

FREE INSTITUTIONS OF GOVEENiv1ENT WOULD AG.I\IN BE CHALLENGED 

AT HOlvlE AND ABROAD. IN THE END., THE COURTS 1viiGHT WELL HOLD 

THAT RICHARD NIXON HAD BEEN DENIED DUE PROCESS AND THE 

VERDICT OF IDSTOR Y WOULD BE EVEN lvlORE INCONCLUSIVE WITH 

RESPECT TO THOSE CHARGES }:.RISING OUT OF THE PERIOD OF HIS 

PRESIDENCY OF Wh'1CH I AM PRESEZ'i'TL Y A \VARE. 

'· 
BUT IT IS NOT THE ULTLv1ATE FATE OF RICHr\RD NIXON THAT ivl.OST 

CONCERNS iv!E -- THOUGH SURELY IT DEEPLY TROGBLES EVERY 

DECENT AND C0).1P.~SSIONATE PERSON-- BUT THE I~flvtEDIATE FUTURL:: 

OF THIS GREAT COUNTRY. IN TEIS I DARE NOT DEPEND UPON lv!Y 
t 

r· 
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PEHSO)iAL SYl'•lPATHY AS A LO:"iG'TL\1E FRlE.ND OF THE FORMER 

PRESIDENT NOR 1-iY PROFESSIO);AL JUDGlvl.ENT AS A LAWYER. _t>.ND 

I DO NOT. 

AS PRESIDENT, J\:1Y PRl~tARY CONCERN :MUST ALVTAYS BE TEE 
' 

GREATEST GOOD OF ALL THE PEOPLE OF THE UNITED STATES, WHOSE 

SERVANT I AM. 

·AS A MAN, lvlY FIRST CONSIDERATIO)I WILL AL .. WAYS BE TO BE 

TRUE TO .i\:iY GWN CONviCTIONS AND MY OWN CONSCIENCE .. 

MY CONSCIENCE TELLS ME CLEARLY AND CERTAINLY THAT I 

CANNOT PROLONG THE BAD DREAMS TH.-\T CONTL.'\1UE TO REOPEN .t\ 

CHAPTER TJL'-\T IS CLOSED. MY CONSCIENCE TELLS ivlE THAT ONLY I, 

AS PRESIDENT, HAVE T:HE CONSTITuTIONAL POWER TO FIRMLY SHUT 

AND SEAL T!-ITS BOOK. 1.-fY CONSCIE::\CE SAYS IT IS ~fY DUTY, NOT 

MERELY TO PROCLALM DO.:V1ESTIC TR_'\NQUILLITY, BUT TO USE 

. 
EVERY ~IEA~S I HAVE TO ENSURE IT. 
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I DO BELIEVE TI:LL\T THE BUCK STOPS HERE AND THAT I 

CA~~OT RELY U?O:.'-i PUBLIC O?I~IO~ POLLS TO TELL iviE WHAT IS 

RIGHT. I DO B.SLIEVE TH.c\T RIGET }..LA.KES lviiGHT, AND THAT IF I 

.·AM WRO~G TEN ANGELS SWEi\RING I VI AS RIGHT 'WOULD IvtAKS NO 
' . 

' . 

DIFFERENCE. I DO BELIEVE WITH ALL MY HEART AND :NIIND AND 

SPIRIT THAT I, NOT AS PRESIDENT, BUT AS A HU:r .. tBLE SERVANT OF 

GOD, VVILL RECEIVE JUSTICE WITHOUT MERCY lF IF AIL TO SHO'\Y 

MERCY. 

FlL'iALL Y, I FEEL THAT RICHARD NL"'\ON AND HIS LOVED ONES HAvE 

SUFFERED ENOUGH,. AND VIILL CONTINUE TO SUFFER NO IvL.<\TTER "WHAT 

I DO, NO :WfATTER WHAT VTE AS A GREAT AND GOOD NATION C_L\N DO 

TOGETHER TO r..tAKE HIS GOAL OF PEACE CO).i.E TRUE. 
·-

NOW, THEREFORE, I,. GERALD R. FORD, PRESIDENT OF THE 

UNITED STATES, PURSl!A~iT TO T:E-!E PARDON POWER CONFE[{RE.D U20:\r 

:W!E BY ARTICLE II, SECTIO:.'-i 2, OF THE CONSTITUTI00i, HAVE 

• ,, 
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• • 
GRAi>·lTED A?'-iD BY THESE PRESE.:~TS DO GRANT A FULL, FREE, 

AND ABSOLUTE PARDO)f U);TO EICHARD NIXO::.l FOR AL~ OFFE~SES 

AGAil:\"S T THE U~i1.TED STATES 'NEIGH HE 7 HI CHARD NIXON, HAS 

C0:011£..-1ITTED OR MAY HAVE CO).L'\UTTED OR TAKEN PART :Df DURI:JG 

THE PE~IOD FRO::V1 JANU-4-RY 20, 1969 THROUGH AUGUST 9, 1974. 

( SIGN DOCU~·.tS:iT ) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I H_.:\ VE HEREUNTO SET MY HAND THiS 

8TH DAY OF SEPTEMBER L."i THE YEAR OF OUR LORD NLI.'iETEEN 

HUNDRED SEVENTY -FOUR, AND OF THE IND:C::?ENDENCE O.F Th"E 

U:NJ.TED STATES OF A:NlERICA THE 199TH. 

(END} 
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE SEPTEMBER 8, 1974 

OFFICE OF THE WHITE HOUSE PRESS SECRETARY 

AT 12:12 P.M. 

PRESS CONFERENCE 
OF 

PHILIP BUCHEN 
COUNSELLOR TO THE PRESIDENT 

THE BRIEFING ROOM 

MR. TER HORST: Gentlemen, if you are ready for 
the briefing, we have Philip Buchen, the legal counsel of 
the White House to address your questions on the President's 
statement and on the documents you have in your hand. 

As you know, he is the President's legal adviser. 
He was very much a participant in the preparation of this 
proclamation and so here is Mr. Buchen to ~ake your questions. 

I think he may have an opening statement which 
--he may like to read first. 

MR.BUCHEN: Thank you, Jerry. 

I appreciate your all being here on this 
Sunday morning, or midday. 

I wanted just to say a few thin~s first, because 
it may answer questions in advance, and at the conclusion 
of these remarks, I will try to field the questions you 
throw this way. 

In addition to the major developments of this 
morning when President Ford granted a pardon to former 
President Nixon, I have two other legal developments to 
announce which occurred prior to the issuance of the 
proclamation of pardon. 

The first involves the opinion of Attorney 
General William B. Saxbe and President Ford dealing with 
papers and other records, including tapes, retained during 
the Administration of former President Nixon in the White 
House offices. 

In this op1n1on, the Attorney General concludes 
that such materials are the present property of Mr, Nixon; 
however, it also concluded that during the time the materials 
remain in the custody of the United States, they are subject 
to subpoenas and court orders directed to any official 
who controls that custody. And in this conclusion, I have 
concurred •. 

MORE 
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This opinion was sought by the President from 
the Attorney General on August 22. 

Q When you say the President, you mean 
President Ford? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

The reason for seeking the opinion was the conflict 
created between Mr. Nixon's request on the one hand for 
delivery to his control of the materials, and on the 
other hand, the pending court orders and subpoenas 
directed at the United States and certain of its officials. 

The court orders have required that the custody 
of the materials be maintained at their present locations. 
And both the orders and subpoenas have called for the 
identification and production of certain materials allegedly 
relevant to court proceedings in which the orders and 
subpoenas originated. 

In addition, we were advised of interests of 
other parties in having certain records disclosed to them 
under warning that if they were to be removed and delivered 
to the control of Mr. Nixon, court action would be taken 
to prevent that move and to protect the claimed rights 
to inspection or disclosure. 

Therefore, it became fully apparent that unless 
this conflict was resolved, the present Administration 
would be enmeshed for a long time in answering the 
disputed claims over who could obtain information from 
the Nixon records, how requested information could, as 
a practical matter, be extracted from the vast volume of 
records in which it might appear, and how, and by whom 
its relevancy in any particular court proceeding could 
be determined, and at the same time to try satisfying 
the claims of Mr. Nixon that he owned the records. 

Within a week of the request by the Attorney 
General for an opinion made by President Ford, I was 
advised informally of what its general nature would be. 
From that time on, I realized that the opinion itself 
wouldnot provide a practical solution to the handling 
and management of the papers so as to reconcile rights and 
interest of private ownership with the limited but very 
important rights and interest of litigants to disclosure 
of selected relevant parts of the materials. 

Thus I initiated conversations ~ith the Attorney 
General's Office, Special Prosecutor Jaw rski, with attorneys 
for certain litigants seeking disclosure, and with Herbert 
J. Miller, as soon as he became attorney for Mr. Nixon. 

The purpose of these conversations was to explore 
ways for reconciling these different interests in records 
of the previous Administration so that this Administration 
would not be caught in the middle of trying on a case-by­
case basis to resolve each dispute over the right of access 
or disclosure. 

MORE 
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The outcome of these conversations was the 
conclusion on my part that Mr. Nixon, as the principal 
party in interest, should be requested to come forth with 
the proposal for dealing satisfactorily with Presidential 
material of his Administration in ways that offered 
reasonable protection and safeguards to each party who 
has a legitimate court-supported right to production of 
particular materials relevant to his case. 

Mr. Nixon and his attorney then agreed to 
pursue this approach and in company with White House 
Counsel, they were able to accomplish the second of the 
developments which I am announcing today. 

And that is the letter agreement,of which you 
have copies, between former President Nixon and Arthur 
F. Sampson, Administrator of the General Services 
Administration. 

These two developments are, of course, much less 
significant than the one you have learned about earlier. 
President Ford has chosen to carry out a responsibility 
expressed in the Preamble to the Constitution of ensuring 
domestic tranquility, and has chosen to do so by exercise 
of a power that he alone has under the Constitution to 
grant a pardon for offenses against the United States. 

About a week ago, President Ford asked me to 
study traditional precedents bearing on the exercise 
of his right to grant a pardon, particularly with 
reference to whether or not a pardon could only follow 
indictment or conviction. The answer I found, based on 
considerable authority, was that a pardon could be 
granted at any time and need not await an indictment or 
conviction. 

President Ford also asked me to investigate how 
long it would be before prosecution of former President ~ 
Nixon could occur, if it were brought, and how long 
it would take to bring it to a conclusion. 

On this point, I consulted with Special Prosecutor 
Jaworski and he advised me as follows, and has authorized 
me to quote his language, and I quote: 

"The factual situation regarding a trial of 
Richard M. Nixon within Constitutional bounds is un­
precedented. It is especially unique in view of the 
recent House Judiciary Committee inquiry on impeachment, 
resulting in a unanimous adverse finding to Richard M. 
Nixon on the article involving obstruction of justice. 

"The massive publicity given the hearings and 
the findings that ensued, the reversal of judgment of a 
number of Members of the Republican Party following the 
release of the June 23rd taperecording, and their 
statements carried nationwide. And, finally, the 

MORE 
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resignation of Richard M. Nixon require a delay before 
selection of a jury is begun of a period from nine months 
to a year, and perhaps even longer. 

"This judgment is predicated on a review of the 
decisions of the United States courts involving prejudicial 
pre-trial publicity." 

Q Is that the end of the quotes? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, I am going on to indicate 
something else that will be of interest to you. That is 
the end of that quote. 

Pnother quote from his communication to me is as 
follows: "The situation involving Richard M. Nixon is 
readily distinguishable from the facts involved in the 
case of United States versus Mitchell, et al, set for 
trial on September 30th. 

"The defendants in the Mitchell case were 
indicted by a grand jury operating in secret session. 
They will be called to trial, unlike Richard M. Nixon, 
if indicted, without any previous adverse finding by 
an investigatory body holding public hearings on its 
conclusions." 

That is the end of the quotation. 

Q Would you end that last sentence again? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. It is an important one. 
"They," meaning the defendants, "will be called to 
trial, unlike Richard M. Nixon, if indicted, without any 
previous adve:::-:,le f:tnding by an investigatory body holding 
public hearings on i·ts co:ncluGions. 11 

Except for my seeking and obta:tning this 
advice from Mr. Jaworski, none of my discussions with 
him involved any understandings or commitments regarding 
his role in the possible prosecution of former President 
Nixon, or in the prosecution of others. 

President Ford has not talked with Mr. Jaworski, 
but I did report to President Ford the opinion of the 
Special Prosecutor about the delay necessary before any 
possible trial of the former President could begin. 

I would also like to add on another subject, 
no action or statement by former President Nixon, which 
has been disclosed today, however welcome and helpful, was 
made a pre-condition of the pardon. 

That is a negative heoause.of the word "nP" 
at the beginning. I might add that whether or not it 
was disclosed today, it was not a pre-condition. 

MORE 
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Q There were no secret agreements made? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

President Ford in determining to issue a pardon 
acted solely according to the dictates of his own con­
science. Moreover, he did so as an act of mercy not 
related in any way to obtaining concessions in return. 

Q Would you go over the last phrase? 

Q After "mercy". 

MR. BUCHEN: Mercy not related in any way to 
obtaining concessions in return. However, my personal 
view --

Q Is that yours or Ford's? 

MR. BUCHEN: Mine. -- is that former President 
Nixon's words, which I have had a chance to read, as you 
have, that followed the granting of a pardon, constitute 
a statement of contrition which I believe will hasten the 
time when he and his family may achieve peace of mind and 
spirit and will much sooner bring peace of mind and spirit 
to all of our citizens. 

Q Would you review that sentence? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

However, my personal view -- these are my own 
words -- is that former Presidon Nixon's words expressed 
upon his learning of the pardon, constitute a statement 
of contrition which I believe will hasten the time ".;hen 
he and his family may achieve peace of mind and spirit 
and will much sooner bring peace of mind and spirit to all 
of our citizens. 

Now I have only one other paragraph that I would 
like to bring out in conclusion. I want to express for 
the record my heartfelt personal thanks and appreciation 
to a dear firend of the President's and of mine. He is 
Benton Becker, a Washington attorney, who has served 
voluntarily as my special and trusted consultant and 
emissary in helping to bring about the events recorded 
today. 

Q Emissary to Mr. Jaworski or Mr. Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: To Mr. Miller and Mr. Nixon, not 
to Mr. Jaworski. 

MORE 
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I also acknowledge with deep gratitude the 
services of William Casselman, ii; who is the highly 
valued counsel -- who was the highly valued counsel to 
Vice President Ford for his whole tenure in that office, 
and is now my close associate in the service of the 
President of the United States. 

Q Who informed President Nixon that he was 
getting a pardon, and also is President Ford basing this 
pardon only on the fact that it would have taken a long 
time to try the Presidency in his own conscience? 

MR. BUCHEN: Let me take the first question 
first. 

When Mr. Becker went to San Clemente on 
Thursday evening, he was authorised to advise the former 
President that President Ford was intending to grant a 
pardon, subject, however, to his further consideration 
of the matter because he wanted to r•eser·le the chance to 
deliberate and ponder somewhat longer, but he was 
authorized to say that in all probability a pardon would 
be issued in the near future. 

The second question? 

Q The second question is: There is no admission 
of guilt here at all and despite your assumptions that it is 
contrition, there is no actual admission of guilt. Do you 
agree? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, my interpretation is that it 
comes very close to saying that he did wrong, that he did 
not act forthrightly. 

Q Mr. Buchen, what is the linkage between 
the agreement between Mr. Sampson and Mr. Becker's negotia­
tions at San Clemente? 

MR. BUCHEN: The initiative for getting an 
agreement that would help solve our problems came from me 
and I advised Mr. Miller as attorney for Mr. Nixon that 
that was my desire. I so advised him before I knew anything 
about a contemplated pardon. 

Q Mr. Buchen --

MR. BUCHEN: May I finish, please? 

However, as we purused talks on what to do with 
the papers, I made it very clear to Mr. Miller that I wanted 
the initiative to come from him and his client as to the 
specifics of what he and his client would be willing to do 
regarding the management and ultimate disposition of the 
papers and tapes. 

MORE 
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Q Mr. Buchen, what will this mean as far as 
former President Nixon's role as a witness in the upcoming 
trials are concerned? 

MR. BUCHEN: It would have no effect on that. 
If the documents do get transferred in a timely fashion, 
it may permit him to review the pertinent material more 
adequately so far as his testimony is concerned. 

MORE 
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Q Mr. Buchen, doesn't this pardon eliminate 
any possibility that the former President might invoke 
the Fifth Amendment to testify? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you better ask his own 
lawyer that. As you know, this applies only to offenses 
against the United States. It does not apply to 
possible offenses against State law. 

Q But regarding offenses against the United 
States, he would have no Fifth Amendment rights now that 
he has been pardoned; is that correct? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know that you can separate 
them when you plead. 

Q Mr. Buchen, why did the President decide 
to do this now at a time before the jury has been 
sequestered in the September 30th trial? 

MR. BUCHEN: That will have to be information 
that will have to come from his statement. I have nothing 
to add. 

Q Can you tell us if the President has 
assured himself that former President Nixon is not guilty 
or liable to accusation of any very serious charges that 
have not been made public so far, that there is no other 
time bomb ticking away? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't think he said that. 

Q No, no, I am saying, has President Ford done 
anything to assure himself that there is no evidence 
of any more serious criminality committed by former 
President Nixon than what is generally out in the House 
Judiciary Committee report and this sort of thing? 

MR. BUCHEN: So far as I know, he has made no 
independent inquiries. If he had wanted to satisfy 
himself as to the content of the evidence still in the 
White House, of course, that would have been an insur­
mountable task, as you have no idea of the huge volumes. 

Q Did you assure yourself 

MR. BUCHEN: Just a minute. There are huge 
volumes. However, I did personally consult with Mr. 
Jaworski as to the nature of the investigation being 
conducted and I was able to tell the President that so far 
as I was able to learn through that inquiry, there were 
no time bombs, as you call them. 

MORE 
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Q Mr. Buchen, what was the President's reaction 
when Mr. Becker conveyed this message to him? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know that it was done in 
person. I don't think he was necessarily in the room, so 
I don't believe he can 

Q Did you get any reaction from the President, 
even if it was by mail or through counsel, did the 
President say he was grateful for this? 

MR. BUCHEN: The only reaction we have gotten 
is the statement that came over the wire. 

Q Are you saying that Ziegler got the word 
from Becker and that President Nixon was not informed 
personally at any time by Ford or by any amiss&!~? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you will have to ask Mr. 
Becker that. My understanding is that initially the 
talks went through Mr. Ziegler, but there were also 
face-to-face meetings between Mr. Becker and the 
President and what occurred by one method, and one 
by the other, I don't know. 

Q There was no personal contact between 
Ford and Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: None at all. 

Q You refer to Becker as an emissary and 
you talk about one meeting out there Thursday to notify 
him. What were the reasons for his previous trips back 
and forth? What was discussed? 

MR. BUCHEN: Becker only went once. 

Q Only on Thursday? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. And not only to discuss that, 
they had to work out the details of that letter agreement 
because Miller and Becker were in negotiation and Miller 
had to consult his client and they had to make modifications. 
And they had to call back to see whether that fit in correct­
ly with what General Services Administration could feasibly 
do. So, that involved a lot of the time he was out there. 

Q Mr. Buchen, did Mr. Jaworski inform you that 
an indictment, or indictment~ against former President 
Nixon were expected? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, he did not. 

MORE 
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Q May I follow that, then? Isn't the granting 
of a pardon at this stage an admission that an indictment 
was expected and that conviction was probable? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you have to recall that 
word came out that the Grand Jury at one time wanted to 
name the former President, or then President, as a co­
conspirator and that is one evidence that something more 
would have happened. 

And I think it is very likely, from all we have 
read, that there would be people who would want him prose­
cuted and would intend to do so, although I don't say that 
that was Mr. Jaworski's view. 

Q Was Mr. Jaworski ever consulted about this 
pardon, ever asked about this? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. 

Q Did Jaworski agree to what was done today? 

MR. BUCHEN: He has no voice in it. 

Q Do you know what his mood or sentiment was? 

MR. BUCHEN: You will have to ask him. I want 
to get to Peter, here. 

Q I wanted to follow up that line. You know 
we are not able to get a response from Mr. Jaworski's 
office and it would really help us for you to tell us 
all you can about the status of the investigation against 
the President, former President Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't have that information, Peter. 
That is kept in his shop. 

Q But in that regard, why was he not consulted 
about what kind of action he contemplated against the 
President before the pardon was issued? 

MR. BUCHEN: We didn't think that was relevant. 

Q You assumed he would be prosecuted; is that 
right? 

MR. BUCHEN: We assumed that he may be prosecuted. 

Q When was Jaworski told? 

MR. BUCHEN: About the pardon? 
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Q About the pardon. 

MR. BUCHEN: I called him about three-quarters 
of an hour before I knew the President was going to announce 
it so that he would know it. 

Q Today? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q What was his reaction? 

Q When was that? 

MR. BUCHEN: He thanked me for advising him in 
advance of his hearing it over the radio or TV. 

Q And he did not object? 

MR. BUCHEN: He didn't. He didn't say anything 
one way or the other. 

Q As we read this statement, which does not 
admit guilt whatsoever, what is to prevent the former 
President from going out, say six months hence, and saying 
that nothing was really ever proven against him and he 
was hounded out of office? 

MR. BUCHEN: I guess he has the right to say 
that because, until an indictment and conviction, I think 
that would be true in his case as well as anybody else's 
case who is under a cloud of suspicion. 

Q But President Ford spoke of the historical 
aspects of this and what is going to keep history from 
getting more muddled than ever? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think the historians will take 
care of that. 

Q Mr. Buchen, does President Ford plan to grant 
a similar pardon to the former President's subordinates who 
are scheduled to go on trial later this month? 

MR. BUCHEN: To my knowledge, he has not given 
that matter any thought. 

Q Can you clarify, was the agreement reached 
with the GSA about the disposal of the tapes and documents? 
Was the pardon contingent on that? 

MR. BUCHEN: Neither. 
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Q They are not together? 

MR. BUCHEN: Right. 

Q Number two, why did he choose 10:30, Sunday 
morning, to make the announcement? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you will have to ask him 
that. He figured that this was a very solemn moment that 
exemplified, I think, an act that was one of high mercy 
and it seemed appropriate, I think, to him that it should 
occur on a day when we do have thoughts like that, or should. 

Q Mr. Buchen, I don't understand why you 
contrast the treatment of Nixon with the treatment of 
Mitchell coming up. If I understand your statement right, 
you said that Mitchell has not had the publicity and the 
action by a hearing as Nixon had before the House Judiciury 
Committee. 

MR. BUCHEN: That was Mr. Jaworski's statement. 
That was not mine. 

Q I don't understand this and maybe you can 
explain what you think he means there. Mitchell certainly 
had the hearing with conclusions and explanations of 
conclusions of a hearing by the Watergate Committee. 

MR. BUCHEN: There was a hearing, but I don't 
know how conclusive the findings were. 

Q There was a hearing and Mitchell testified. 
There was a public hearing and there were conclusions and 
recommendations on that, and a press conference on that, 
and great publicity. 
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MR. BUCHEN: I would judge that Mr. Jaworski 
does not find those conclusions prejudicial to Mr. Mitchell's 
upcoming case. 

Q Mr. Buchen, the President, in his statement 
this morning, referred to this matter threatening the 
former President's health. Do you have any further details 
on that? Do you know anything about the former President's 
health that we don't? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, I didn't go out there, so I 
didn't see the man. 

Q Do you know what he meant by that? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think it is generally known 
that this man has suffered a good deal. I think you people 
who saw him more recently than I have can form your own 
conclusions. 

Q Has Mr. Ford and Mr. Nixon talked this 
morning? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, not to my knowledge, but I do 
not believe they did. 

Q Do you know,was the President in a depression 
and has the President threatened to commit suicide or 
anything like that? 

MR. BUCHEN: I have no knowledge. 

Q You say that you looked into this matter 
from a constitutional standpoint for the President, and 
I am sure you looked into the history of it. Has any 
President ever granted a pardon before in history to 
anyone prior to that person being charged with a crime 
formally? 

MR. BUCHEN: Oh, yes, there are lots of 
precedents for that. 

Q Like what? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, one of your colleagues, 
named Mr. Burdick, was pardoned before he was asked to 
testify regarding some alleged criminality involving the 
Customs Service during the Wilson Administration and he 
was given a pardon. 

Q He was a newsman? 

MR. BUCHEN: He was a newsman. 

And, of course, the pardons granted by President 
Lincoln, for example -- the pardons granted after the 
Whiskey Rebellion and other insurrections, were applied 
to people who were not indicted. 
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Q Mr. Buchen, I am a little confused at your 
words, more or less dismissing the question of whether 
or not the President would grant pardons to Mr. Haldeman, 
Mr. Ehrlichman, Mr. Mitchell and the others who will 
go on trial September 30th. Is it not fairly 
clear to you, or at least do you not, here in the White 
House, admit the possibility that their defense now, in 
light of the action of President Ford today, will be 
that the President has pardoned the man under whose 
orders they were operating and what is your reaction to 
this possible line of defense or line of appeal by the 
defendants in that trial? 

SureLy, this must have been given some con­
sideration and I again would ask you what you think is 
going to happen, what you think the President would do 
when confronted with this question? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I question your broad characteri­
zation that the acts for which they are being charged were 
necessarily 

Q I am just suggesting this may be their 
defense. 

MR. BUCHEN: This may be their defense. Now, that 
will become Mr. Jaworski's problem and, of course, 
the judge's problem. You have already seen that Mr. 
Jaworski apparently assumes that the situation in their 
case is far different from the situation in the former 
President's case. 

Q Phil, can I ask you this: Did this process 
that led up to the pardon today start a week ago when the 
President came to you? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Was there something that happened just 
prior to his coming to you that got his interest working 
in doing this thing just now? 

MR. BUCHEN: If there was, I don't know what it 
was, Ron. 

Q Have they talked on the phone at any 
time this week, or immediately prior to this week? 

MR. BUCHEN: They have not talked on the phone 
since Jack Miller became his attorney. 
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Q Did this process start after last Sunday's 
publication of the Gallup poll that said that the majority 
of the public wanted to see Mr. Nixon prosecuted? 

MR. BUCHEN: Let me figure my dates. That was 
Labor Day week-end, was it? I worked all Labor Day week­
end so it came before that. 

Q To what extent did the transition team look 
ahead to the problem of a pardon, and have you done any work 
at all --

MR. BUCHEN: They didn't consider that. They had 
far too much else to consider. 

Q As a matter of equal justice under law, 
we have now had the two top officials of the United States, 
both allegedlyinvolved in crimes, namely, Vice President 
Agnew and MrA Nixon, who have been freed of criminal 
charges. Both of them are entitled to go around the 
country and represent themselves as being innocent. What 
is a citizen to make of that situation when ordinary 
criminals, including the aides involved in this, have 
to be tried? 

MR. BUCHEN: Of course I cannot speak at all 
for the treatment of former Vice President Agnew because 
this Administration was not in any way involved. But I 
think you have to understand -- and maybe it is a good time 
on Sunday to think about it -- that there is a difference 
between mercy and justice. 

I don't think that you can assume that mercy is 
equally dispensed or how it could be equally dispensed. 

Q Mr. Buchen, is there any pardon being 
considered for the aides who performed their acts allegedly 
in the name of and in behalf of Richard Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: I have already spoken to that question. 

Q I don't think you have, Mr. Buchen. I am 
actually talking about those now in prison, not Mr. Nixon. 
John Dean and others? 

MR. BUCHEN: So far as I know, no thought has been 
given to that. 

Q Mr. Buchen, is it now possible under the 
agreement on the custody of Presidential tapes and 
papers for any tape made during the Nixon Administration 
to be subpoenaed even though it is not now the subject of 
a subpoena? 
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MR. BUCHEN: It is possible. In order to get a 
subpoena, or court order, of course, certain showings 
would have to be made. It is also possible, of course, for 
the owner of the tapes to interject objections. 

Q A follow up to that. If the owner of those 
tapes doesn't want to give them up -- he has now been 
pardoned of everything what·is the leverage? 

MR. BUCHEN: It doesn't affect the court orders 
or subpoenas, and he is subject to the consequences of 
not obeying a valid court order or subpoena. 

Q In other words, that would come under the 
expiration date·of August 9 in the pardon; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Do you feel the agreement with Mr. Sampson 
has insured that the Ford Administration cannot be impli­
cated in any Watergate cover-up? Was that one of your 
considerations? 

MR. BUCHEN: That was not involved because I 
don't think that is a relevant issue. 

Q Is there any change in the rules of access 
to documents by former White House aides? 

MR. BUCHEN: The problem is that there would, of 
course, be an interim before the Nixon-Sampson letter agree­
ments can be fully implemented. How we will handle the 
interim arrangements, I am sure can be worked out with 
Jack Miller as attorney for Mr. Nixon. 
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Q As you recall, in the Agnew case, a paper 
prepared by the Justice Department listing the law viola­
tions by the former Vice President was presented in court 
on the theory that the American people were entitled 
to have the full story in addition to the specific 
charge to which the former Vice President pleaded? 

In President Ford's preparation for today, what 
thought did he give to the presentation of an analysis 
by Special Prosecutor Jaworski of the full extent of 
President Nixon's role in the Watergate case, and is there 
any understanding at this point of eliminating Special 
Prosecutor Jaworski's ability to pursue that type 
of investigation? 

MR. BUCHEN: There is no limitation on what 
Mr. Jawarskican do except, of course, the putative 
defendant has the defense now of pardon. 

On the first part of your question, there is 
a distinct difference between asking a man to plead 
guilty to a limited offense and the treatment of Mr. 
Agnew, of course, was done under very different circumstances 
by the system of justice. In this case, it was reliance 
entirely on the pardon powers which involve acts of 
mercy. 

Q You said earlier that you had assumed that 
Mr. Nixon may have been prosecuted, is that as far as 
you are willing to go on that issue? Did you all think it 
was likely that he would be prosecuted? 

MR. BUCHEN: If you mean tried or indicted? 

Q Indicted? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think it would be very likely 
that he would be indicted. How and when he could be tried 
was still an open question. 

Q This likelihood, is that on the strength 
of your conversation with Mr. Jasorski that you think 
it was very likely? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, it was largely on the basis of 
what the Grand Jury apparently intended to do on the basis 
of less evidence than is now available. 

Q Mr. Buchen, if the ex-President retains the 
sole right of access to the documents and as I understand 
this GSA agreement, can even limit access by the Archivist 
of the United States and his staff, why should the United 
States remain as custodian of the documents at all? 
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MR. BUCHEN: There is a double-key arrangement. 
In other words, access can't be obtained by either the 
former President or the General Services Administration 
except by their concurrent acts. 

Q But he could conceivably, to prevent himself 
from embarrassment, limit access -- no one could see these 
documents during the three years the United States 
agrees to act as custodian. 

MR. BUCHEN: Unless there is a court order or 
subpoena. 

Q What about the court orders or subpoenas 
that are outstanding? 

MR. BUCHEN: We will have to take this agreement 
to the courts involved in those proceedings and seek relief 
from the present p-rocesses and subpoenas on the basis 
of the current agr~ement. 

Q Mr. Buchen, did you and the President give 
much consideration to the fact that a crimir;t:>.l trial 
could have cle.Jlf."ed Nr. Ni:"<'on of the charg-es of possible 
guilt, could h~ve cleared him, cleared his name? 

MR. BUCHEN: We certainly recognized that as a 
possibility. Whether it was given any consideration, 
I don't know. 

Q I mean by you or the President? 

Q Well, you were there. What was your 
own view? 

MR. BUCHEN: My own view is that that was a 
possibility. If that was what the former President wanted 
to do, he certainly would have told us. He didn't have to 
accept the pardon. 

Q Did you recommend the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: I had nothing to do with recommending 
it or disrecornmending it. 

Q Did you ever discuss the political implications 
of this pardon with the President? 

MR. BUCHEN: I did not. 

Q Mr. Buchen, to follow up on some of these 
other questions, it seems that President Ford has an interest 
in building into the public record a record of Mr. Nixon's 
alleged criminality for the same reasons that Mr. Agnew's 
alleged criminality was made a part of the record, to prevent 
him from saying that he was driven out by political 
opponents, et cetera. Is President Ford satisfied that 
former President Nixon's record of wrongdoing is sufficiently 
in the public record now? 
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MR. BUCHEN: All I can tell you is that he knows 
nothing that you don't know. 

Q Mr. Buchen, does the pardon in any way 
affect M~. Nixon's payment of back income taxes? 

MR. BUCHEN: Not at all. This does not apply to 
civil liabilities. 

Q Let's get back to this double-key 
arrangement. This is just so much lawyer's language. 

MR. BUCHEN: I know that is complicated. 

Q Does that double-key a~angement p~event 
the President from going in there and dest~ying some 
of those tapes if he wanted to? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, it does. 

Q So, the~e is adequate safeguards? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Does it mean that if any of those tapes 
are subpoenaed and he just refuses to honor those subpoenas, 
then what would happen? 

MR. BUCHEN: He would be subject to contempt of 
the court that issued the subpoenas. It doesn't apply to 
any future acts. 

Q When will the tapes be physically moved 
to this ~eposito~y in California or are they going 
to ~emain he~e? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, they will be moved to the Cali­
fo~ia reposito~y as soon as we can get ~id of, o~ 
modification of the existing o~ders that require they be 
~etained here. 

Q Is that that Laguna Niguel py~amid they 
will be put in? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q But nobody can get in the~e by themselves. 
The~e will always be somebody to watch; is that co~~ect? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q When you way "cu~~ent", are you ~efe~ring 
to the two cou~t orders that a~e pending? 
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MR. BUCHEN: There are at least three court 
orders that I know of. One is in the Wounded Knee 
case in Minnesota. Another is in the nature of an order 
because the court declined to issue the order on the 
assurance that documents or tapes could not be moved, and 
that is the case involving the networks. So, you can 
get Ron to answer your questions on that. 

The third one is the civil suit in North Carolina 
involving a suit by people kept out of a meeting to 
celebrate Billy Graham Day. 

Q Mr. Buchen, Mr. Jaworski has, of course, 
in his possession a considerable number of tapes which 
are not the originals. They are copies. This agreement 
with Hr. Sampson does not affect that, does it? They 
don't have to be returned to the mass to be moved out to 
Laguna? 

MR. BUCHEN: The copies will be disposed of as 
the court orders, I assume. 

Q But this does not require them to be re-
turned to the big group? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. 

Q Can I clarify the chronology of all this? 
When is the first time the President indicated to you 
he might want to pardon Mr. Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Just at the start of the Labor Day 
weekend. 

Q On which day? 

MR. BUCHEN: I know I started to work Friday 
night, so it must have been Friday. 

Q Did you have any contact with Mr. Miller 
on the issue of a pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Not at that time. The first contact, 
I think, was on Thursday of this week. 

Q And you can't suggest what precipitated 
the President's interest? 

MR. BUCHEN: I do not know. 

Q Can you tell us whether the President ever 
tried to I hesitate to use "extract" -- but get 
any admission of guilt from the President, or was it 
strictly 

MR. BUCHEN: He did not. 
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Q Mr. Buchen, you said that President Ford has. 
not talked to former President Nixon since Mr. Nixon 
retained Miller. Could you tell us the last time President 
Ford had contact with President Nixon, direct contact? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know. I think it may have been 
the time of the Rockefeller appointment. 

Q Mr. Buchen, I am not clear on one thing, 
and following up Helen's question, your emissary went out 
on that Thursday, Mr. Becker went out on Thursday, that 
was the only time he went out. I am trying to get clear 
in my mind precisely what it was he told the former 
President, or told Mr. Ziegler, and both of them at different 
times, that President Ford, in all probability would grant 
a pardon. What did he ask either of Mr. Nixon or Mr. 
Ziegler? What did he ask that Mr. Nixon do? Did he ask 
that this statement we have been given today be 
issued? Did he suggest wording and what it should say 
or did he ask for nothing? Did he ask for more than what 
we got in this statement? 

You say at one point the former President could 
have turned down the pardon. 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Did he offer that option and did he say 
if the pardon was to be granted, what the former President 
then should do? 

MR. BUCHEN: The former Pre.sident was represented 
by counsel, you know. 

Q Well, did he make the.offer to Mr. Miller? 

MR. BUCHEN: Mr. Miller is sht"ewd enough 
attorney to know that he could have advised his client 
to accept or reject the pardon. 

To answer your other question, as you can 
see, that letter agreement is a very complicated one 
and it involved a lot of practical problems. Before 
Miller and Becker went out, a rough draft of Miller's pro­
posal was in our hands. But it was obvious that we could 
not work out the details of what would suit Miller's 
client and what would suit GSA and whatwould suit what we 
thought was the best interests of the ·Government and .of the 
potential other parties in interest without going out .and 
making the final draft out. there. And that was done. 

As far as the statement from the .. former President 
is concerned, that was a matter·that was left entirely 
up to the discretion-of his own counsel and. hi& 
own advisers. 
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Q Let me see if I can put it ariother 
way, Mr. Buchen. Was the pardon in any of the conversa­
tions involving yourself, Mr. Becker, or anyone else, with 
anyone representing the former President, was this 
pardon contingent on anything? 
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MR. BUCHEN: I have said no and I repeat no. 

Q Are you saying if he had not given this 
letter at all, if he had said, "Well, I will make no letter 
agreement," are you saying categorically that a pardon 
would have been issued anyway? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am not sure because President 
Ford could have changed his mind or not made up his mind 
finally. 

Q When was the package completed that was 
announced toda~? 

MR. BUCHEN: We got the agreement back on early 
Saturday morning and spent that day reviewing it with 
Mr. Sampson so that was wound up. 

Q You mean yesterday morning? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, yesterday morning. The statement, 
of course, we didn't see until we got it over the wires right 
after the speech. 

Q Did the President know there was going to 
be a statement before he finally decided on the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Did he have any idea what the contents would 
be, what the tone would be? 

MR. BUCHEN: In a general way, yes. 

Q You are saying that the pardon had nothing 
to do with this letter agreement? 

MR. BUCHEN: That was not a condition. 

Q This was a completely independent action? 

MR. BUCHEN: Right. The negotiations for that 
agreement were started independently before even considera­
tion of a pardon. 

Q The decision to pardon was not made until 
after this agreement was obtained? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q What you are saying, you cannot say there 
would have been a pardon if the agreement had not been 
made? 
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MR. BUCHEN: All I can say is that the President 
had the right not to grant a pardon because he had not 
finally made up his mind to do so. 

Q When did he make up his mind to do so? 

MR. BUCHEN: I suppose until that pen got on paper 
or until he started making the statement. 

Q He made his decision after the agreement was 
made? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is correct, but what went on 
in his mind, I don't know. 

Q When did he write the speech? 

MR. BUCHEN: Last night. 

Q In sending this word through the emissary 
to Mr~ Nixon that he was thinking of or expected to 
pardon him but was reserving time judgment, was that in 
any way intended as encouragement to Mr. Nixon to get 
on with the final agreements and possibly offer the kind of 
a statement that he did offer today? 

MR. BUCHEN: That was not the intent. If it 
created that impression, it was a wrong impression. 

Q Mr. Buchen, you just said that the President had 
an iadication in a general way of content of the former 
President's statement. If I may ask a two-part question: 
How did he obtain this indication, and did he believe, or 
was he informed,that the statement would be one of contrition? 

MR. BUCHEN: The report was through the mouth 
of Benton Becker, and the characterization of it as an act 
of contrition is mine. 

Q Excuse me, then. What general feeling did the 
President have that the statement would be, what indication 
did he have of what the statement would be? How was it 
characterized by Mr. Becker? 

MR. BUCHEN: He in general told the President 
what it amounts to and in particular called attention to 
the fact that there would be an acknowledgement of failure 
to act decisively and forthrightly on the matter of the 
Watergate break-in after it became a judicial proceeding. 

Q Was that negotiated at all? 

MR. BUCHEN: It was not negotiated. 
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Q Was Mr. Becker informed of that on 
Thursday at the time he went out there? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think he was informed on Friday 
because he got out there very late on Thursday night. 

Q Do you know if that information had any 
effect on Mr. Ford's decision? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know. I am sure it pleased 
him and made him feel that it was easier for him to act 
as he contemplated doing. 

MR. BUCHEN: We will take three more questions. 

Q Would you please clear up some things about 
this letter of agreement. I am sorry, but it will take me 
some time to understand it. Let me see here if this is 
what it means. Unless there is a subpoena or a court 
order which Mr. Nixon would reply to, any ordinary citizen 
of the United States, or any officials, outside of Sampson, 
could not just go in there and look at these tapes or 
listen to them, or see them at any time. They will be shut 
off completely to the public? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Mr. Buchen, why is the date of July 1969 
mentioned in the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: It is January, the date of inaugura­
tion, January 20. President Ford misspoke when he used 
the word "July". 

Q How complete was.your explanation of the 
case against the former President by Mr. Jaworski? Did 
he go into what areas that he might be pursuing, what 
he heard on the tapes that have not been made public? 
Anything like that? 

MR. BUCHEN: The question asked him what matters 
could arguably involve further steps, and it read like a 
list from one of your newspapers. 

Q Did Mr. Becker talk strictly with you or 
did he ever speak to Mr. Ford? Did he deal strictly with 
you? 

MR. BUCHEN: ·Oh, no; he was also in the room 
on occasions when I was speaking to the President. 

Q Why did he pick Becker to do this? 
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MR. BUCHEN: Part of the problem, as you may 
know, is we have a rather understaffed legal staff here 
and Mr. Becker is a man of rare talen that helped during 
the confirmation hearings of the Vice President, and he is 
such a good and trusted friend of both of ours that we 
felt he was the one we should call on. 

THE PRESS: Thank you. 

MR. BUCHEN: All I am going to say is, for the 
tapes there will be two five-year windows. The first 
of the five-year windows involves controlled access by 
the former President for his listening to copies of tapes, 
copies to be made by an operator who himself does not listen 
to the originals. 

Also, during the first five-year window, anyone 
with a legitimate court subpoena or order that is upheld 
can have access or can require the former President to 
furnish the information contained on relevant portions of 
the tapes. 

At the end of that first five-year period, the 
former President retains his window, but also can order 
selective destruction of tapes. At the end of the ten­
year period, they all get destroyed, all that remain. 

Q In the second five-year window, is that just 
by persons who have legitimate subpoenas and court orders 
closed off? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right, because there is a 
five-year statute of limitations on most, in fact on all, 
Federal offenses and most civil matters, so it is assumed 
the initial five-year window is long enough. 

Q What is the limit on destruction after 
five years plus one day, or can he destroy them all? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can. 

Q He can? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can order them destroyed. 

Q If they were making any copies, would the 
originals then be destroyed in the second five-year window? 

MR. BUCHEN: The originals will be destroyed. 
The copies will be destroyed immediately after they are 
used. 
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Q And he could do it after five years and 
one day for everything? 

MR. BUCHEN: Right. 

Q Now can you go then from there to the 
documents? 

MR. BUCHEN: The documents are a different 
category. There is no present gift of documents as 
distinguished from the tapes. However, there is a three­
year period when there will be controlled access by the 
owner of those documents requiring the double-key 
arrangement with the General Services Administrator. And 
the former President is under obligation to respond to 
any subpoena involving documents, just as he is to those 
involving tapes. 

During the three-year period involving documents, 
the former President will be under obligation to respond 
to subpoenas involving those documents. At any time,the 
former President can designate certain documents by 
description to become the absolute property of the United 
States. 

However, after the three-year period, he may 
either elect to complete his gifts or to withdraw materials 
as he desires. These are documentary materials. 

Q Why the three-year limit? 

MR. BUCHEN: We felt that as a practical matter 
on the documentation that would be long enough. It gives 
everybody a warning. Obviously if there is a subpoena 
out that was obtained in the three years and the matter 
of its resolution has not been concludec, the subpoena 
would prevail. 

Q Can you destroy the documents after three 
years? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, if he wants to withdraw them. 
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Q By the way, Mr. Buchen, I may be wrong in what 
I am about to say, but I am going to predicate a question 
on it, nevertheless. 

I am under the impression that the tapes, as 
opposed to documents, the tapes were -- that things such 
as taperecordings were not covered when Congress covered 
that loophole and for that reason, the former President 
could donate those tapes to the Government and claim 
a tax exemption. 

Your second window, the ten-year time for destruc­
tion appears .to rule that out; is that right? 

' 

MR. BUCHEN: He has already given them to the U.S. 
Government to be a gift effective at the end of the 5-year 
period. 

Q After he destroys them all? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can't destroy them during the 
first five-year period. 

Q He has given them as a gift to the United 
States -- we are talking about tapes now -- he has 
given them as a gift to the United States for five 
years; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, it is the other way around. 
He has retained title for five years and the gift takes 
effect at the end of the fifth year. 

Q But he can destroy his gift? 

MR. BUCHEN: He doesn't have access to them. 

Q But he can the next day. Didn't you 
say five years and one day he could destroy them all? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can order their destruction. 

Q What can he do with the copies? Can he 
dispose of them for his own purpose? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, the copies will go back into the 
hands of the General Services Administrator and they 
will be destroyed after he has listened to them. 

Q Mr. Buchen, after the ten-year period, is it 
mandated that the tapes, all tapes and all copies be 
destroyed? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is a condition. 
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Q So, his gift in the second five years is a 
limited gift, in time it is a limited gift, say limited 
to five years; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. 

Q You say he has given them to the United 
States? 

MR. BUCHEN: Effective five years from now. 

Q Why are they going to be destroyed after 
five years? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, maybe they never should 
have been made in the first place. This was his desire 
and I think it is consistent with the fact that these 
matters do involve conversations with people who had no 
realization that their voices were being recorded. 

As an old spokesman for the right of privacy, 
I think there is considerable merit for putting these in 
a separate category from documents. 

Q Mr. Buchen, was any consideration given 
to the right of history? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am sure the historians will pro­
test, but I think historians cannot complain if evidence 
for history is not perpetuated which shouldn't have been 
created in the first place. 

Q Is there anything he can keep, or intends to 
keep? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am sure there are items in the 
documents that he would intend to keep. Of course, it 
would involve family letters, things of a highly personal 
nature. 

Q Mr. Buchen, if it is Mr. Nixon's desire to 
destroy the tapes after ten years, would it not be logical 
to assume he will destroy them after five years? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is his option, order them 
destroyed. 

Q What about the gift option? The tax deduction 
option? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am not his tax lawyer and it seems 
to me if you give a gift with instructions that the items 
have to be destroyed, that the gift immediately loses its 
value, so I would think it would be very questionable. 
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Q What about the President, though? Could 
he --

MR. BUCHEN: They will not be perpetuated 
beyond the limited use. 

Q Does the word "copies" include written 
transcripts as well as the originals? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q As a practical matter, at the end of 
five years, then all the tapes will be dest~yed except 
those under subpoena? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, because he reserves the right 
to keep the window open for himself for another five years? 

Q Just the President, no public? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Is it a question they can be destroyed 
in five years, but must be destroyed in ten years? 

MR. BUCHEN: They can't be dest~yed short of 
five years. 

Q Mr. Buchen, Prosecutor Jaworski gave no 
indication that he objected to the pardon. Is it your 
impression that he sort of feels relieved? 

MR. BUCHEN: Wouldn't you if you were in his 
place? 

THE PRESS: Thank you. 

END (AT 1:28 P.M. EDT) 
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'The Pa-cdon fO-e 

Pcesident Nixon 
The whole history of religion is one of conflict between 

idealism aTid realism. As Paul put is so succinctly, "between 
what I want to do and what I do, between what I profess 
and the way in which I really act." Religion is valid not so 
much because it has created a good society but because it 
holds up the ideal of a good society. It is good not only for 
the good people; it's good because it holds out hope for 
those who are not good and know they aren't. No matter 
how good we become, religion ·will still be valid because it 
will be casting further ideals toward which to aspire. 

Abraham was early in the history of the Jewish people, 
1500 B.C. at least. Remember the story of how Abraham 
taught God about forgiveness? For centuries after that the 
Jewish people were ruthless in wiping out their enemies, 
destroying children and old people and cattle, throwing salt 
in the fields of their defeated enemies ... not much for­
giYeness. But I wonder what it would have been like without 
the ideals. So Abraham took God apart and God was going 
to destroy Sodom and Gormorrah. Abraham said, "Now, 
God, if there were fifty good people there, would you still 
destroy it?" And God said, "No, for the sake of fifty per­
haps I wouldn't." And Abraham worked Him down until 
there were only ten there, -and God growing in his wisdom 
and graciousness finally decided that for the sake of ten peo­
ple He wouldn't destroy the city. Also recall how Jonah, 
many centuries later, was sent on a mission by God to 
destroy the city of Ninevah and he was relishing the destruc­
tion. They were a wicked, bad people and he could taste it 
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in hi,; Jllr:tlth, hi;; joy and his pleasure at seeing Gud dc;;truy 
these wicked, e\·il people. God caused a gourd to grow up to 
:;hade Jonah, lamenting and wailing in the heat of the desert, 
and then He had the gourd cut down and Jonah was very 
angry over the gourd's failing him, and in the end God said 
to Jonah, "You're angry over a little gourd. Do you not 
ti1ink I would be much more concerned for the people of 
Xinevah? Jonah, doest thou well to be angry." 

I am going to read to you a few verses from the 20th 
Chapter of the Gospel according to St. Matthew, which puts 
something in story form for you to work on and for me to 
work on. It is one of those scandalous, foolish statements. 
Jesus is trying to describe the kingdom of heaven and hope­
fully the kingdom would be a little better than the society we 
have. Listen to the strange counsel and advice and consider 
what it nnght mean. "The kingdom of heaven is like this. 
There was once a landowner who went out early one morn­
ing to hire laborers for his vineyards, and after agreeing to 
them the usual clay's wage, he sent them off to work Going 
out three hours later he saw some more men standing idle 
in the market place. 'Go and join the others in the vineyard,' 
he said, 'and I will pay you a fair wage.' So off they went. 
At midday he went out again and at three in the afternoon 
and made the arrangements the same as before. And then 
an hour before sunset he went out and found another group 
standing there. So he said to them, 'Why are you standing 
about like this with nothing to do?' 'Because no one has 
hired us,' they replied. So he told them to go and join the 
others in the vineyard. ·when evening fell, the owner of 
the Yineyard said to his steward, " Call the laborers and give 
them their pay beginning with those that came last and 
ending with the first." Those who had started work an hour 
before sunset came forward and were paid the full day's 
wage. \Vhen it was the turn of the men who had come first, 
they expected something extra but were paid the same amount 
as the others. As they took it, they grumbled at their em­
ployer, 'These late comers have done only one hour's work 
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<-.:1d yd you ha\·e put them on a level with m who han: 
~v;eated the whole day long in the blazing sun.' The owner 
tc;rned to one of them and said, 'My friend, I am not being 
unfair to you. You agreed on the usual wage for the day, did 
you not? Take your pay and go home. I choose to pay the last 
man the same as you. Surely I am free to do what I like 
with my own money. vVhy be jealous because I am kind?' " 

* * * * * 
Let it be our prayer that we will learn more the ways of 

justice, that we will learn better how to apply the rules we 
know and that we may enhance and redeem the quality and 
character of those who are bitter and hurt and inadequate. 
Let it be our prayer that we \Vill continue to grow in our 
ability to handle the misdeeds of our children, our spouses, 
our friends, our neighbors, and all people. Let it be our 
prayer that we will grow, not only in our capacity for justice, 
but in our understanding and appreciation of our great needs, 
that we may learn not only to do justly but to love mercy 
and to walk humbly with our Gocl and with our principles. 

* * * * * 
I want first of all to state the prejudicial position from 

which I speak to you this morning. I have been a citizen of 
this country now for almost forty years, and because I 
adopted the country and came with eager anticipation, I 
have a very deep and abiding faith and satisfaction in the 
traditions and the glory of our history. I am so deeply ap­
preciative of what kind of place this is and the freedom that 
it offers and the hope that it offers to the world. I am as 
idealistic about that now as I was as a child and as a youth. 
In all those forty years I have had three persons that I 
thought violated the ideals and the traditions and the hopes 
and the quality of this country as I understood them. That's 
my personal judgment and I have stated it a number of times. 
I hold no opinions that I sooner or later do not discuss 
publicly. So many of you have been aware for many, many 
years that I have considered Richard Nixon as a deep, basic 
enemy of the ideals and the hopes of America. I put him 
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along with Senator McCarthy and J. Edgar Hoover. I know 
this opinion was not shared with very many. Not until 
McCarthy had run his course, did the evil and wickedness 
of his approach and destructiveness become apparent. So 
I express my prejudice against the man Richard Nixon. It 
is longstanding. I didn't have to wait for Watergate .... 
it was nothing that I really found difficult to believe. Perhaps 
that is why I am not quite as angry as some of you are. 

Secondly, I want to say that I have been here in Grand 
Rapids all the years of Gerald Ford's public life. I have 
seldom ever agreed with any of his positions or votes. That 
too was clear to you. I am not prejudically disposed in his 
favor. I have had to fight him over and over again. However, 
I do want to say that I am shocked and outraged by the 
terrible allegations and suspicions of motivations that have 
been raised in our own community this past week in ascription 
to his act in pardoning President Nixon. You may agree or 
disagree with his decision but I am horrified that we would, 
ministers and other good people, in the name of our 
worry over idealism and over qualitative living, attribute 
to him the very worst of motives, scandalously outrageous 
motives without any single bit of evidence. Now that may 
be all right, although it isn't, for persons in the country 
around to do. As decent, religious people we ought to at 
least accept a man's public declaration of why he is doing 
something. Until you find out better, isn't that the decent 
thing to do? Certainly it is the religious thing to do, but 
I have read preachers this week denouncing him for in­
culcating immorality while they spread doubt and lack of 
faith and ugliness with sheer, unadulterated gossip. When 
those people speak on behalf of morality and high idealism 
for a better nation - that kind of conversation and talk is 
destructive. 

Gerald Ford lived in· this community. We should know 
better. In all those years of my opposition to him I never 
once have had occasion to call into question his motivations, 
his integrity, his honor or his honesty.· He moves in and out 
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of our homes. He is no stranger to us. 'vVe have had him 
under a microscope for thirty years. \Ve ought to know that 
man. However bad his judgment, we ought to know he is a 
decent, honorable, honest person, as deeply devoted to the 
ideals of America and to the qualities of democracy as any 
one you will ever have met. This is not just hearsay; it's 
there on the record. There is no valid reason for impugning 
to President Ford a dishonest or dishonorable motivation. 
His whole life speaks against it. And we, we know. We 
ought to know. 

One. I ,.,·ant to say that it is absurd to say that a pardon 
for President Nixon undermines our legal system or destroys 
our principle of equal treatment under the law. It is absurd 
to make such a claim. President Ford did not invent the 
pardon. The privilege and responsibility of clemency and 
pardon is built into the system of our law, on every level 
from the merest local district up to the federal. It · is an 
important part of our law. It is a responsibility more often 
than it is a privilege. It is equivalent in effect to the veto 
which we attribute to the President. Congress writes laws 
but the President may veto them. Congress passes laws 
many, many times knowing that the President will veto 
them. Good men and women have voted for causes and 
issues and programs that they didn't want to support but 
did for the public effect, knowing that the President would 
veto them and they would not go through. Juries have con­
victed persons knowing that there would be clemency and 
pardon for them and that the penalty to be exacted was too 
great, but they knew there would be a pardon forthcoming. 
Juries have refused to convict persons obviously or seemingly 
most guilty because they knew that the penalties for such 
crimes were too harsh in the particular instance. They took 
justice into their own hands. 

Pardons are a responsibility. They are a necessary part 
of our whole system of justice. \Vithout them our justice 
would be much less. Criticize President Ford's judgment but 
his act is not a violation of the law. He was assuming his 
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responsibility and he felt in his own conscience that he had 
to do it and he had to do it in the way he did. 

The second aspect of the fact that it is not a violation of 
the law for the president to do this, that it is not anti-system, 
that it is not anti-legal the second aspect is the fact that 
while equal treament in our system is one of the most 
important functions we have, the same offense does not 
always warrant the same treatment. Surely no principle is 
more basic than this to our justice. Equal treatment of all 
offenders, given a moment's consideration, must surely come 
through as a travesty of justice or of a legal system. There 
has ah·.-ays been unequal treatment and always the pro­
vision for unequal treatment, for equal treatment would be 
a horror and a nightmare. 

Let me make some suggestions for consideration. \Ve do 
not object to plea bargaining although the latest officially 
sanctioned commission to investigate criminal justice is 
suggesting that plea bargaining be dispensed with. Plea 
bargaining has always been a part of our system. \Ve have 
used it from the lowest local prm;ecuting attorney up to and 
including the special attorneys appointed by the presidents. 
Under plea bargaining. if a person will plead guilty to a 
small offense, we will forgive him for the major offenses 
so that we can use him in the prosecution of further justice. 
This is not equal treatment, but it is a part of our system. 

\Ve have traditionally and continually given freedom and 
clemency and forgiveness and pardon to informers, those 
who will help us reach further to get more grievous law­
breakers. 

Justice has always been based upon the principle of 
moth·ation. \Ve give three different formulas for punishment 
for murdcr based on the nature of motivation. There is a first 
degree and a third degree. \Ve always want to inquire into 
what caused the person to do what he did. You wouldn't 
take the offense without investigating his frame of mind 
or his attitud,·. 
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\Vould you trl!at a first offc:ndtr in the same way you 
\\ ould treat an habitual offender? Is that equal treatment ~ 
to take a person who has done something for the first time 

nd give him the same punishment as someone else who has 
'-been doing the same thing over and over again? 

Do we not always consider when we consider justice the 
capacity for rehabilitation of the offender? Do we not at 
least take into consideration his age, his social status, his 
history and tradition up to that time, his social record, his 
standing in the community, his honor, and would we not 
assume that a person who had lived for thirty or forty years 
in a community with honor and status should be treated 
somewhat differently from some one who has paid no at­
tention to the community and used it only to ravage it? 
Surely there is a value for our previous life and our 
previous standards and for our relationships in the com­
munity. 

I ask you also to raise in your mind the fact that in any 
kind of justice we must always consider the value of any 
mnishment. Punishment is not the purpose of justice and 

punishment may not ahvays serve justice. vVe are obviously 
aware of that on every possible leveL If it is true for poor 
people, as one friend of mine said, wouldn't the same prin­
ciple apply to the rich? If it is true and valid for the un­
powerful, wouldn't it apply equally well to the powerful? 
Shoucln't we stop and consider whether or not punishment 
would really be of any value? There is a committee working 
in this County to secure special privilege for the good citizens 
here who fall into trouble and to help them avoid the bad 
record of a prison confinement or even a day in court. The 
basis is that these people \Vho on investigation turn out to 
be good people are capable of rehabilitation and we don't 
want to punish them unnecessarily for punishment may only 
push them further down, degrade and hurt both them and 
our society. There are hundreds of illustrations that any 
one of you can pull up to your minds. Consider the neighbor 
vou have known who has had trouble. Your understanding 
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and knowledge and conviction is that punishing that person 
would do no good, and you have worked, haven't you ~ I 
have, over and over again to get such people off. This was 
done not so they could avoid the justice system but so that 
justice could be sen·ed, so that they could grow in their 
qualities, so that they could be strengthened in their weak­
ness to go on making a contribution to society. One little 
illustration. Congressman McCormick, Speaker of the House, 
left the House in disgrace, an old man, everyone knew. 
'Would it have sern~d justice and decency and honor and the 
welfare 0f Congress, Massachusetts, or America to have put 
McCormick in jail, at his age? 

Two. 1 haYe already said it is absurd to say that the 
law is mocked or that equal treatment has been violated. The 
second point I make is that the due process of law for 
Presiden':s is not, I repeat not, the same as for an ordinary 
citizen. Our Constitution set it up that way. President Ford 
was not i::.itiating some new procedure. He was following the 
Constitution. We had been following the Constitutional 
process. The President could not be tried in an ordinary 
court. That is why the impeachment procedure was set up. 
He was tried according to the Jaw, according to our standards, 
to our precedents and traditions. He had to be duly charged 
in the House and then tried in the Senate. It was perfectly 
dear - the record is there in print, and there will be more 
of it - that he stood guilty .md that is the reason for his 
resignation. He did not escape our law. He was not above 
the law. His resignation expressed that guilt. The penalty 
under the law for a President's wrongdoing was exacted. 
The President did not escape. 

Three. The President of the United States is not just 
another person. There is some remarkable political wisdom 
involved in this. We do like to remember that President Ford 
is just Jerry, that we know him, that we have drunk with 
him, eaten with him, played with him, that he is just another 
guy. But not when he is President. He could say, "I hope 
my friends 'viti not cal1 me Mr. Vice President, that I'll still be 
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Jerry," but when he assumed the rank of Vice President, he 
was something more, and that is. a minor office compared 
to the presidency. The presidency carries with it so much 
dignity, so much power, so much history, so much tradition 
that the man who occupies it is not just another citizen. He 
is king =1s well as ordinary citizen. This President carries 
the burden of acting like royalty even while he must remem­
ber, as we must remember, that he is just another ordinary 
citizen . . . . but he is both. He is the President, and you 
address him "Mr. President." The simplest person and the 
sophisticated person as well stands in awe before that figure. 
The President is not to be treated as just an ordinary citizen. 
He is the office as well as the executive. He is the nation 
as well as a political and party leader. He is a symbol of 
our nation, our tradition, our history. 

Do you think we have not been humiliated enough? Do 
you think there would be any real value in humiliating the 
presidency any more? I know the horror and I share it. 
Do you want more? Back in the early days of Watergate 
I remember particularly a cultured academic witness and 
lecturer being called in by the net works from Australia to 
discuss the case. He said, "Why is it that the Americans 
like to flagellate themselves ? Why do they lih:e to bring out 
all this and hang it in front of the world?" I have moved 
around enough to know that that's the way Canadians feel, 
too. And I have read, the British, the French, the Scandi­
navians and almost all of West Europe want to know why 
we do this. "Why do you do this to yourselves? Couldn't 
you meet the problem and handle it and get on about your 
business. Do you have to lay it out for the world to see 
and beat your breast in shame and degradation?" Well, we 
did bring it out. That is part of our nobility. It will be 
forever a stirring part of our tradition, that we were strong 
enough and courageous enough and honest enough to bring 
it all out. It isn't just Richard Nixon - it's the presidency 
that has been shamed, and I think we all know it. If that 
presidency is going to be something, there is no need to 
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drag it any further, it seems to me. \Ve have taken our 
punishment. We are not escaping our guilt. We are not 
escaping a wrongdoing. 

Do you really want more? Do you think that more shame 
would help us as a nation? Do you think that more shame 
would make the presidency more august and more significant 
and more important? Do you really think that more punish­
ment would make us better? 

I entitled this "The pardon for President Nixon." I used 
the term Prescient advisedly, not Richard Nixon. Remember 
the pardon was for the President. It was for the office. 

Four. The pardon was a symbolic act of mercy. It should 
be seen a.s an expression of our desire to be forgiving. I 
advocated that we forgive them all. But if we cannot forgive 
everyone because we are not yet that good, and I wish 
we could and I wish we were, surely we can forgiv'e some 
one if for no other reason than to hold up the ideal of 
forgiveness. 

The Jews didn't rise tci the level of Abraham am! God 
didn't rise to that level for centuries and centuries. The ideal 
is there. It must never be forgotten. The time to hold up 
the ideal is when you need it most, when you are most bitter, 
resentful, hateful. Hold up forgiveness. That's when you 
need it most. If you can't forgive all your friends, forgive 
some. If ycu can't forgive all the way, forgive part of the 
way. Help 'Where you can if you can't help everywhere. Show 
mercy where you can, wherev~r you can, even if you can't 
show it all the way to everyone. Remember the story of the 
owner who paid all his employees equally, expressing an 
act of ~indness. The others got what they bargained for.. 
Was he unjust or is kindness the point of the story? 

Five. \Vhatever the "world'' may say, and I put world 
in quotes as I referred to those outside of our own com­
munity earlier, whatever the law may do, and whatever your 
critical judgment of guilt and innocence may be, a religious 
person should not be found in vain against forgiveness. 
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1-iO\\. many million times today will Christians say, "ForgiYe 
us our trespasses." Is it words only? Does it really express 
our desir< : I,; it really our bdid? Then we had better 
start exercising it. ForgiYe us our trespas::;es as we forgive 
those who trespass against us, for we need it and we \vill 
need it. 

The most solemn event in Christianity is Jesus on the 
cro:;s. Millions and millions who go to church at no other 
time go to lament and wonder and marvel at that man on 
the cross, an•l they refer invariably when they go to the 
fact that this man vvas able to forgive his enemies who 
were killing him. An innocent man he was, and they were 
killing him. On the cross he asked for forgiveness for them. 
Is this only words? Do we mean it? Then will we struggle 
a little in our religion to rise to it sometime, some1v-here? 
Could we not then muster a litt!e forgiveness for Richanl 
Nixon, for one who has wronged us but one who has served 
us as \\·ell for many. many years and, according to millions 
of us, served us well vvhatever his faults of character and 
whatever his later misdeeds? If we claim the glory of an 
innocent man forgiving those who kill him, it doesn't seem 
so much that we rise to that level. vVhat a mockery of our 
religion if we cannot. 

Remember the woman taken in adultery. Jesus forgave her. 
There were no extenuating circumstances presented for that 
\Voman. It '>Vas a flagrant case. Hundreds and hundreds of 
Jewish women had been stoned to death for the same offense 
and would continue to be stoned to death for that offense, 
and this woman went free. \Vould you rather have had 
ju:,tice or did the mercy mean something? Jesus did not 
intend to abolish the lmv and its penalties when he succeeded 
in that act. It was a symbolic act of mercy and forgiveness 
that comes ringing down the centuries holding us to an 
ideal and holding up an ideal for us. Forgive when you can. 

l\Iercy and forgiwness cannot be weigh-ed and measured 
and balant-ed and counted. It n~ust alwavs be free anrl ttn-
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earned and undeserved. It is the foolish nature of mercy. 

In conclusion I want to ask why such an outpouring, un­
equalled in my life, of bitterness, resentment, outrage and 
hate? Th~ reaction is too great to be justified by the occasion. 
It is something more. We have got to find an explanation. 
The wisdom of our race and of our religion gives us the 
explanation. We know. If you stop for a moment, I think 
you really know. We have been hurt. We have been shamed. 
\Ve have been betrayed. vVe have been diminished. We 
have been frightened and we have been endangered~ We 
have been exposed by what President Nixon and his people 
did to us. The emotions have been dammed up too long, 
swirling within us as a dark, muddy, unwholesome flood. 
We want to pour them out, pour them out on some person, 
some thing, some animal, anything so that we can get rid 
of them. The function of a scapegoat. From before history 
there were scapegoats. You poured out your guilt on some 
animal and then killed it, drove it out into the wilderness. 
This is a deep human, psychological trait and understanding. 
It's valid. It works. But I am praying that we understand 
·what we are doing, and I pray that there is a better way 
than this primitive way of scapegoating, and if we can't 
rise to th3.t better way, at least ;mderstand what we are doing. 
The way out is through understanding and forgiveness. 

Remember Jonah and the people of Ninevah. God said, 
"Jonah, doest thou well to be angry." Have mercy. 

We must find it in our hearts, for our own salvation and 
our children's and perhaps the world's, to forgive President 
Nixon and the people around him, President Ford, and me, 
and yourself and all of us. \Ve cannot live without it. 

This sermon by Dr. Duncan E. litt"Ufair was 
ddivn'ed without manuscript on S(pt~tmber 15, 1974, 
and is printtd from a tape ruording. 
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THE WHITE HOUSE 

WASHINGTON 

September 12, 1974 

MEMORANDUM FOR: JOHN MARSH 

FROM: ROBERT GOLDWIN~ 

I discussed today with Don Rurnsfeld, on the phone to Brussels, 
some thoughts on how the consequences of the pardon decision 
might be handled in the corning press conference. 

He urged me to put my thoughts in writing, in Q and A form, 
and send them to you. 

The principles we agreed on are as follows: 

1. A more full explanation needs to be given of the basis for the 
pardon. 

2. Emphasis should be on what's good for the U.S., not the good 
of Richard Nixon. 

3. The argument should fit Nixon's case uniquely, so that a 
dozen others cannot claim pardon on the same grounds. 

4. The emphasis should be on the magnanimity of the American 
people, not on compassion for Nixon: not that he has suffered 
enough, but that the American people have punished him enough. 

5. The nature of pardons should be explained: all pardons are 
exceptions to meet exceptional circumstances. 

6. The President should reaffirm the character of openness he 
will strive for in his Administration, acknowledge that the 
preparation of the pardon decision and announcement was out 
of keeping with this character, and pledge efforts to get back 
to the promised way of doing things. One possible action that 
could dramatize this pledge would be an announcement that 
terHorst has agreed to return to his post. 

The draft of Q and A 1 s is attached. 

Attachment. 



(Goldwin) September 12, 1974 

DRAFT 

Q: Mr. Pre3ident, now that you know the strongly adverse 

reaction to your pardoning of Mr. Nixon, do you .:>till think it was 

the right thing to do? 

A: Yes, I am sure that granting a pardon to Mr. Nixon was in the 

best interests of the United States, but the initial reaction makes 

me think that I could have explained more fully the reasons for the 

decision. I would like to take several minutes to say more about 

it now. 

One element leading to the decision was compassion for a 

man who held the highest office and who now is down, really down. 

I made that point fully at the time. 

But that was just one element, and as I said in my statement, 

II it is not the ultimate fate of Richard Nixon that most concerns 

me . but the immediate future of this great country. 11 It is 

that second element, the good of the country, that I want to 

emphasize now. 

Looking back over the last two years, one can saythat the American 

people and their elected representatives behaved admirably 
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throughout the course of the Watergate difficulties. They finally 

reached the position that the President should be impeached or 

resign without ever resorting to improper behavior--no violence, 

no menacing mobs in the streets, nothing of the sort. In full 

dignity, with due restraint, using only legal and constitutional 

means- -in the courts and the Congress- -they made the President 

aware that he no longer had their consent to be governed 

by him, that they were no longer willing to entrust their power 

to him and that therefore he was powerless, because under our 

constitutional form of representative government there is no 

power other than the power entrusted by the people to elected and 

appointed officials. 

The American people acted not in a spirit of vindictiveness 

or revenge or pleasure in his pain, but with deliberation, with 

moderatio~and with regret. And yet the severity of their judgment 

was relentless and Mr. Nixon had to leave the most honored position 

in American government. 

For a President of the United States to resign in the face of 

eviden;..;e of wrongdoing and illegal actions is severe- -uniquely severe-- , 

... 
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punishment. How much more can be added to that punishment? 

Even if there had been a court trial, and even if there had been 

a conviction, I would have been reluctant- -extremely 

reluctant-- to permit Mr. Nixon to go to jail, partly for his 

sake, but primarily for the sake of the American people, to spare 

us all the unacceptable experience of seeing a former President 

behind prison walls. Because the greatest conceivable punishment 

had already been imposed, it seemed to me that further attempts 

to add punishments were pointless and petty and unworthy of us. 

The act of pardoning changes only one thing, in my opinion. 

It assures us that we will not see Mr. Nixon in the defendant's 

_seat in a court for actions during his presidency. It does not 

prevent his appearing as a witness under oath, just as he would 

have without a pardon. 

Finally, let me comment on a remark I have read and heard 

many times in the last few days to the effect that this pardon will 

make future presidents feel that they can do anything they want 

and not worry about being punished for wrongdoing. Now that is 

ridiculous. Who can say that Mr. Nixon has escaped punishment? 
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Who would be willing to trade places with him? What future 

President will •••••••• wish for himself the fate of 

Mr. Nixon? He has been mightily and powerfully punished by the 

deliberate and constitutional response of the American people, 

through their Congress and their courts. The whole course of 

events stands as a warning to present and future officeholders 

at every level of government in America- -and especially at the top. 

Now, a few closing words on pardons. The Constitution gives 

the power of pardoning to the President. It is meant to be used 

in his sole discretion, when he thinks that special circumstances 

are such that the national interest is better served by pardon than 

by the usual legal process. By its nature, any pardon is an 

exception, is unequal treatment, is outside the regular legal 

process. That is why the Founders gav:e the pardoning power 

to the President. It is neither a legislative nor judicial function. 

Therefore it makes little. sense for critics to argue that my action 

was outside the legal process and was unequal treatment. That 

is what a pardon is, and that is why the Constitution empowers 

' 
the President to grant pardons-- so that exceptions can be 

, 

made in exceptional cases. 



Well, that took longer than it should, but that is what I now 

think I should have added to my remarks when the pardon was 

granted. 

• 
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Q: Mr. President, why did you decide not to pardon others involved 

in Watergate? How can you pardon the leader and not those who 

worked for him? 

A: The first and most obvious reason is that only one person is 

the former President of the United States. It was to spare us, 

the American people, from seeing him as defendant through long 

court trials that I did what I did- -and also to save us from 

possible pettiness in trying to heap additional punishments on top 

of the massive one already meted out. 

Second, the continuing judicial process is of paramount 

importance. If more pardons were granted to halt trials about 

to begin that might put an end to the telling of the Watergate story. 

I can see no reason in the interest of the American people for 

granting other pardons as I did in the unique case of Mr. Nixon. 

Equal protection of the laws is not denied some per sons by the 

pardon of another. Whichever way the trials come out, the interest 

of the nation will be served, but no other way. 



Q: Doesn't the fact that Jerry terHorst resigned affect your 

thinking about the rightness of your decision? 

A: It does not make me think that the decision was wrong, but 

it makes me realize that I handled the matter badly. Mr. terHorst 

is a man of judgment and integrity. He was put in the position 

of misleading others who trusted him. I have told him that I 

deeply regret what happened, and I have asked him to return to 

his post. I have assured him that I have given orders that nothing 

is to be kept from the press spokesman hereafter except on my 

direct orders and for reasons of national security--which was 

not involved in this business. 

In the conversation with Mr. terHorst, which occurred at my 

request, I took the opportunity to restate my original aims 

for the character and conduct of this Administration. It is 

to be an open administration, with lots of consultation and a 

determination to seek and consider advice. I now have had the 

unhappy experience of seeing how easily one can be carried away 

by fee1ings of compassion and that it takes discipline and constant 

attention to follow practices that were, for me, in other 
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circwnstances, easy and natural. But I am willing to confess that 

this decision was badly handled, that I violated my own rules, 

and I hope I have learned a valuable lesson. 

Now I am resolved to get this Administration back on the 

original track. Jerry terHorst was invaluable in the first 

month and will be invaluable in helping us return to the openness 

and truthfulness we pledged to ourselves and the Congress, the 

press, and the people. 

Q: What was terHorst's answer? 

A: 

t 

• 
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Q: Was there a deal between you and Mr. Nixon, that you would 

grant him a pardon if you should become President? 

A: Absolutely not. The subject was never discussed or even 

mentioned to me or any of my associates by him or any of his 

associates. I must remind you, however, of what I said before, 

of my reluctance to permit Mr. Nixon to go to jail. But I never 

spoke of that. And, again I repeat, that reluctance was partly for 

Mr. Nixon's sake, but above all for the sake of th'e people of the 

United States. 

• • 
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THE WHITE HOUSE 

WASHINGTON 

September 
' 

Dear Sir: 

I have prepared a review of the remarks made by President Ford 
during his last press conference regarding his pardon of former 
President Nixon. 

It seemed to me you might find it useful if Mr. Ford's explan­
atory comments about the pardon were drawn together in one place 
in a question and answer sequence. 

It is possible that this treatment of the subject might be help­
ful to you. 

Enclosure 

Paul A. Miltich 
Special Assistant to the President 

for Public Affairs 

Not printed or mailed at government expense. 



THE NIXON PAROON 

President Gerald Ford's pardon of former President Richard Nixon jolted 
the Nation by its timing and suddenness. 

Why did President Ford take the action he did when he did? 

Although thousands of words have been written about the pardon and spec­
ulation has been rife, too little attention has been paid to the explana­
tions given by Mr. Ford during his nationally-televised press conference 
of September 16. 

There may still be millions of Americans who are looking for other reasons 
to explain Mr. Ford's action, but the fact remains that he did -- in fact -­
furnish them with a full explanation of his pardon decision during his press 
conference. 

It might be well to review his stated reasons when pulled together in one 
place. 

First of all, as he told the Nation, he was informed by Special Prosecutor 
Leon Jaworski that because of prejudicial publicity it would take probably 
nine months to a year or longer before a Nixon trial could get under way. 
~Yen then it might be questionable whether there could be a fair trial. 

The President noted that the Special Prosecutor's Office was investigating 
10 areas in which the former President may have been involved. The Special 
Prosecutor's Office pointed out that none of these areas of investigation 
"had risen to the level of ability" of the Prosecutor's Office to "prove 
even a probable criminal violation" on the former President's part. This 
list was made public by the White House Press Office. It was in addition 
to the Watergate coverup matter, about which no comments were made by, or 
received from, the Special Prosecutor's Office. 

In connection with that explanation, Mr. Ford went on to note that "the ac­
ceptance of a pardon can be construed by manylt if not all, as an admission 
of guilt." The President further noted that '38 members of the House Com­
mittee on the Judiciary -- Democrat and Republican -- have unanimously 
agreed in the report that was filed (with the House) that the former Presi­
dent was guilty of an impeachable offensen involving the Watergate coverup. 

The President flatly and unequivocably stated his chief reason for pardoning 
Mr. Nixon at thin time: 

"The main concern that I had at the time I made the decision was 
to heal the wounds throughout the United States. For a period 
of 18 months or longer we had had turmoil and divisiveness in 
American society. At the same time the United States had major 
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problems both at home and abroad that needed the attention 
of the President and many others in the government. It 
seemed to me that as long as this divisiveness continued -­
this turmoil existed, caused by the charges and counter­
charges -- the responsible people in the government could 
not give their total attention to the problems that we 
have to solve at home and abroad. And the net result was 
that I was (all the) more anxious to heal the Nation. 
That was the top priority. And I felt then and I feel 
now that the action I took will do that. The major reason 
for the action I took related to the effort to reconcile 
divisions in our cow1try and to heal the wounds that had 
festered far too long." 

The President felt that to delay the pa~don until after Mr. Nixon had been 
tried would not serve the best 5.nterests of the .American people. The tur­
moil, he felt, would continue until such time as Mr. Nixon was tried, 
througho4t the trial, and for a long period thereafter. 

In that vein, he commented dur.ing hts press conference: 

"I ••. most carefully analyzed the situation in the country 
and I decided we could not afford in America an extended 
period of continued turmoil and the fact that the trial 
would have .•• lasted a year, perhaps more, with the con­
tinuation of the divisions in America.~ 

He added: 

"I'm absolutely convinced wh.en dealing with reality in this 
very, very difficul ~ situation that I made the right deci­
sion in an effort, an honest, conscientious e~~ort, to end 
the divisions and the turmoil in the United States." 

The objection is made that the President granted a full pardon to Mr. Nixon 
but only conditional amnesty to draft evaders and military deserters. In 
meeting that objection, President Ford noted that Mr. Nixon had been 
"shamed and disgraced'r by having to leave the highest elective office in 
the land. And so there real:\.y, he felt, was no comparison between the two 
situations. 

Some Americans are contending that the full story of Watergate now will 
never be known. 

In answer to that assertion, President Ford replied during his press confer­
ence: 

"In the first instance, you have the very intensive inves­
tigation conducted by the House Committee on the Judiciary, 
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••. It came up ~ith volumes of information. In addition, 
the Special Prosecutor's Office under Mr. Jaworski has con­
ducted an intensive investigation. And the Special Prose­
cutor's Office will issue a report at the conclusion of 
their responsibilities that I think will probably make ad­
ditional information available to the American public. 
And thirdly, as the various criminal trials proceed in the 
months ahead, there obviously will be additional informa­
tion made available to the American people. So when you 
see what has been done and what undoubtedly will be done, 
I think the full story will be made available to the 
American people. 11 

President Ford is personally unshakably convinced that he made the right 
decision. He is t~tsting to time to bear him out in that belief. 
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AT THE WHITE HOUSE 

WITH BILL GREENER 

AT 12:02 P.M. EST 

DECEMBER 18, 1975 

THURSDAY 

MR. GREENER: One announcement: The Presiden't(J 
will attend the swearing-in ceremonies of Judge Stevens 
as Associate Justice of the Supreme Court tomorrow, December 
19, 1975, at 10:00 a.m. The oath will be administered 
in the courtroom. 

Those wishing to cover the ceremonies should 
apply for special passes to the Court Information Officer, 
room 30, on the ground floor of the Court. The passes may 
be picked up at room 30 between 8:00 a.m. and 9:45 a.m. 
on Friday. 

The President is expected to depart the White 
House at around 9:45, and return at 10:55. 

Any other additional information concerning 
coverage should be directed to Mr. Frank M. Hepler, Marshal 
of the Court, at 393-1640. 

Q I assume there will be a travel pool? 

MR. GREENER: Yes. 

Q Will the President have remarks there? 

MR. GREENER: No, I don't believe so. 

Q That does not apply to the travel pool or 
anything, does it? 

MR. GREENER: Well, he may have remarks. · I will 
have to check on that, Aldo. 

The question is, what about the travel pool. 
Do we get their passes? 

MR. SPEAKES: We will take care of that. 

MR. GREENER: That does not apply to· the travel 
pool. 

MORE 1#395 
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Q Bill, in light of the President's statement 
that truth is the glue that holds Government together --

Q Excuse me. Before you get into that, could 
I ask a question? 

, Is that going to be in the Supreme Court Chamber? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, in the courtroom. 

Q So that means there is no coverage of that, 
television or radio; is that correct? 

MR. GREENER: I don't know. Those wishing to cover 
the ceremonies -- the information should come from Mr. 
Hepler. 

Q The procedure is you never get anything. 

Q Bill, in the light of that statement about 
truth, I am just wondering how do you explain the President's 
telling the Judiciary Committee "At no time after I became 
President was the subject of a pardon for Richard Nixon 
raise~in light of the Garment memo and the reported 
conversation with General Haig? 

MR. GREENER: Well, let's get that in some context. 
One, in his testimony before the Judiciary Committee, 
or the Hungate subcommittee, to be exact, and I am sure 
you have gone over it very thoroughly --

Q It was not under oath I discovered. 

MR. GREENER: Well, at any rate, whether under 
oath or not 

Q Are you sure of that? 

Q Yes, I checked. 

MR. GREENER: He stated in that that "At no time 
after I became President on August 9, 1974, was the subject 
of a pardon for Richard M. Nixon raised by the former 
President or by anyone representing him. Also, no one on 
my staff brought up the subject until the day before my 
press conference on August 28, l974.u 

Secondly, as for any assurances, as the story reports, 
that were given to General Haig by the President on the 
pardoning, the President gave no assurances to General Haig 
on the pardoning of President Nixon on August 28 or any 
date prior to that. 

MORE f#395 
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Q Bill, if my memory of the transcript serves 
me correctly, where he says "until the day before August 
28" he said then the subject was only raised in reference 
to the possibility of a pardon being discussed at the 
press conference. 

MR. GREENER: That is correct. 

Q Well, Mr. Buchen is quoted as saying, "The 
President now recalls" 

MR. GREENER: Mr. Buchen is not being reported 
as saying "now." 

Q It was quoted on the front page of the paper 
this morning, Bill, was it not? 

MR. GREENER: Read it, Lea. It does not say that. 

Q "Now recalls he talked with Haig." Isn't 
that the quote? 

MR. GREENER: The President did talk with Haig as 
noted here in reference to the press conference. 

Q I see. 

Q Is that the only way in which the President 
before August 28 ever discussed the matter with Haig or 

-anyone else? 

MR. GREENER: Except as outlined in the testimony 
on August l, which is also in the testimony. 

Q What did he do on August 1, Bill? 

MR. GREENER: I will have to find it for you. 

In his testimony before the House Judiciary "· ... 
Subcommittee on October 17, the President testified that 
the first talk about a pardon with General Haig came Ura 
meeting with General Haig at 3:30 p.m. on August l. 

Q Bill, the implication of the Washington 
Post story is that the President was somewhat less than 
truthful in his prior comments on the matter. The pardon 
otherwise -- if we are picking nits, you don't run it eight 
columns across the top of the page. 

Are you prepared to say here that the President's 
position is absolutely without any change or evasion at 
any time? 

MR. GREENER: Yes. 

MORE #395 
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Q Would you ask the Washington Post for a 
re~action, Bill? 

MR. GREENER: Pardon me? 

Q Would you be willing to ask the Post for a 
retraction if they put this on the top of the page? 

MR. GREENER: I don't know what I should ask them 
to retract, the report sources and things, and that is 
the way they plan to report it. 

Q Bill, let me put it another way: Are you 
saying that the President has always dealt with the public 
on the matter of the pardon with complete candor? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, I am. 

Q Now Bill, let me see if I can understand 
this. On October 17 he says, "At no time after I became 
President on August 9 was the subject of a pardon for 
Richard K. Nixon raised," right? 

MR. GREENER: Until --

Q Now, you are saying that 

MR. GREENER: Let me finish reading the sentence. 
Don't stop in the middle of the sentence. 

Q I am sorry. 

"At no time after I became President on August 
9, 1974, was the subject of a pardon for Richard M. Nixon 
raised by the former President or by anyone representing 
him. II. 

MR. GREENER: That is correct. 

Q Okay. 

MR. GREENER: "Also, no one on my staff brought 
up the subject until the day before my first press conference 
on August 28, 1974." 

Q Can you keep reading beyond that a little? 

MR. GREENER: "At that time I was advised that 
questions on the subject might be raised by media reporters 
at the press conference." 

Q Did President Ford consider --

MR. GREENER: Tom, let Mort finish his question. 

Q I am sorry. 

MORE #395 
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Q Now, did you say that the President testified 
that the first talk about the pardon came on August 1? 

MR. GREENER: In the same testimony, yes. 

Q 
conflicting? 

But aren't those on the very face of them 

MR. GREENER: No, because he was not President 
on August 1. 

Q Bill, how did the President view General 
Haig's role? Haig was Chief of Staff to President Nixon. 
Did the President ever view him after he became Chief of 
Staff to President Ford as a representative of former 
President Nixon? 

MR. GREENER: I would have no way of knowing that , 
Tom. 

Let me go back to my statement. The President 

Q It is a crucial point because if the 
President in preparation for that news conference considered 
Haig staff it would be a different position than if he 
considered him a representative of former President Nixon. 

MR. GREENER: Well, in preparation for the briefing 
he obviously considered himself part of his own staff at 
that point. 

Q Not an advocate or a representative of the 
former President? 

MR. GREENER: Not in preparing for a press 
conference, no. 

Q Did Haig at any time make a plea to the 
President to pardon Nixon? 

MR. GREENER: Not according to General Haig. 

Q Well, what about according to the President? 

MR. GREENER: Not according to the President. 

Q What was the tenor of the discussion on 
August 1, then? 

MR. GREENER: According to the testimony, when 
Haig mentioned a pardon as one of the options involved in 
a possible Nixon resignation. 

Q Well, you are just interpreting that as not 
being a suggestion. 

MORE #395 
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MR. GREENER: I am not interpretin: it; I am 
I'eading it from the testimony. 

Q Yes, but you just said that h ~ never raised 
it as a suggestion and the testimony says he raised it as 
an option. It does not seem to me there is c big difference, 
Bill. 

MR. GREENER: Bob, I don't know how it can be 
a difference. I am going to have to reread the whole 
testimony for you. 

Q No, you don't have to reread it. 

You just made a judgment call on what Haig calls 
an option. 

MR. GREENER: No, I didn't. Let me finish reading. 

"Shortly after noon, General Haig requested 
another appointment as promptly as possible. He came to 
my office about 3:30 p.m. for a meeting that was to last 
for approximately three-quarters of an hour. Only then 
did I learn of the damaging nature of a conversation on 
June 23, 1972, and one of the tapes was due to go to Judge 
Sirica the following Monday. I described the meeting at 
one point. It did include references to a possible pardon 
for Mr. Nixon to which the third and fourth questions in 
House Resolution 1367 are directed. However, nearly the 
entire meeting covered other subjects, all dealing with the 
totally new situation resulting from the critical evidence 
on the tape." Then -- I am jumping now. 

"On the resignation issue, there were put forth 
a number of options which General Haig reviewed with me. 
As I recall his conversation, various possible options 
were being considered, including: 

"One: The PNsident temporarily step aside 
under the 25th Amendment ; 

"Two: Delaying resignation until further along 
in the impeachment process ; 

"Three: Trying to first settle for a censure vote 
as a means of avoiding either impeachment or need to resign; 

"Four: The question of whether the President 
could pardon himself; 

"Five: Pardoning first the Watergate defendants, 
then himself, followed by resignation; 

"Six: A pardon to the President should he resign. 

MORE #395 
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"The rush of events placed an urgency on what 
was to be done. It became even more critical in view of 
a prolonged impeachment trial which was expected to last 
possibly four months longer." 

Then he goes on and he just outlined the various 
options, Bob, and that is all. 

MORE 
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Q You do not agree that the word "recommendation" 
is similar to the word "option?" 

MR. GREENER: No, I don't. If I tell you, Bob, we 
have four or five things we can do today -- we can either go 
here, we can go there, we can go here, we can go there, we 
can go there -- and don't tell you whiCh one I recommend 
you do, then I don't consider myself recommending anything. 

Q But does it not depend a little on how it is 
presented,and that we don't knowl All we have is that 
it was presented as an option. We don't know the words that 
were used. 

MR. GREENER: Well, there is nothing new in the 
conversation we are having today, Bob, beyond what was held 
on the Hill at the time of the testimony. I am saying those 
facts are still there in answering your original question that 
the President has dealt with candor and truthfulness at all 
times on this matter. 

Q Was this August 1 that you are reading from? 

MR. GREENER: Yes. wpy don't I just have this up 
here, Ted. 

Q That meeting was the August 1 meeting? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, it was. 

Q Before he was President? 

MR. GREENER: Yes. 

Q Bill, after General Haig became President Ford's 
Chief of Staff, President Ford made the decision to pardon 
'former President Nixon. Can you tell us when General Haig 
was advised of that decision? 

MR. GREENER: I cannot, Bob, at this time. It was 
not on August 28 or before and I would have to find the 
exact date from somebody. I don't know. 

Q Bill, could you tell me,when General Haig 
briefed the President for the press conference on the pardon 
issue, did he use the words or refer to "the alarming state of 
President Nixon's health?" 

MR. GREENER: Phil, I don't know the exact words 
nor was anyone else taking a transcript of the discussion 
during a press conference preparation meeting. I am simply 
stating that there was no impassioned plea by General Haig 
or any other member of the staff to the President to pardon 
President Nixon; two, that the President, as reported in the 
story, did not assure Haig on August 28. 

MORE #395 
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Q Except that it is possible that in the context 
of at least -- refute me if I am wrong, but isn~t it possible 
that in the context of the discussion of the pardon in 
preparation for the news conference the following day that 
General Haig could have recommended a pardon at that time, 
in the context --

MR. GREENER: Very doubtful, since Phil Buchen 
prepared the question and answer that they went over. 

Q Bill, could I just make sure that at least I 
understand. \Vhen you say there was no impassioned plea by 
General Haig or anybody else --

MR. GREENER: I am refuting the quote in the front -­
the lead of that story only. 

Q You are referring 

MR. GREENER: 
terms that the plea 
what you mean? 

I am not trying to use any technical 
was made but not impassioned. Is that 

Q No. What I mean is that you are referring to 
August 28 or prior to that, is that correct? 

MR. GREENER: No. On the plea, there was none made 
by any member of the staff, to the President, prior to his 
decision as he stated in his testimony. 

Q Prior to.his decision? 

MR. GREENER: As is stated in his testimony. 

Q Did he ever see that Garment letter or the 
memo or whatever it is1 

MR. GREENER: Not to his knowledge; nothing -­
nor to General Haig's knowledge. 

Q Representative Elizabeth Holtzman questioned 
the President at that subcommittee meeting about a deal 
and he interrupted her and he said, "Miss Holtzman, there was 
no deal." Does he still stand on that? Can you speak for him 
for that point? 

MR. GREENER: I can speak for anything in this 
testimony. The President stands on that testimony. 

Q Yes, but he had already, on August 1, had a 
meeting on the subject of the pardon. 

MR. GREENER: He did not have a meeting on the 
subject of a pardon. He had a short meeting that covered 
a number of subjects and one of the things that was brought up 
was an option of it and there was no meeting on it and he 
explains that, evidently,to the satisfaction of Miss Holtzman 
also. 

MORE 

•. 



- 10 - #395-12/18 

Q Bill, did you talk with the President this 
morning about this matter? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, I did. 

Q Did the matter come up in your conversation 
with the President whether Al Haig recommended or advocated, 
whichever word you want to use, a pardon for former President 
Nixon? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, it did. 

Q And the answer was? 

l1R. GREENER: No. 

Q Thank you. 

MR. GREENER: Don't you want to ask me if I talked 
to Al Haig? 

Q Yes. Did you? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, I did. 

Q And? 

MR. GREENER: The same answer. 

Q All right. 

Q Which is what, please? That Haig told you --

MR. GREENER: Exactly what I have been saying, that 
I talked to both Haig and the President. Well, I did not talk 
to Haig. I sat beside Dick Cheney while he talked to Haig 
and listened to the questions and answers. 

Q Bill, Leonard Garment says that he gave a copy 
of his --

Q Finish the sentence, please. 

MR. GREENER: What sentence? 

Q Tell us what Cheney asked and what Haig said 
on this subject, if you can approximate his words. 

MR. GREENER: I don't plan to approximate it, I 
just plan to state that the President's testimony remains 
valid, true and truthful. 

Q So Haig never made any recommendation for a 
pardon at any time? 
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Q According to Haig1 

MR. GREENER: According to Haig. 

Q And according to the President? 

MR. GREENER: And according to the President. 

Q Bill, you said you refuted the lead in this 
story. What part of the story will you accept? (Laughter) 

MR. GREENER: It is not my job to accept. 

Q 
charge, Bill 
the Post. 

No, I just want to know. This is a very serious 
-- a very serious charge -- raised on the top of 

MR. GREENER: What is the charge? 

Q Well --

MR. GREENER: If you, can outline the charge to me 

Q This is what other people have been asking 
about this, Bill, and I never got a good answer. 

MR. GREENER: Well, I have answered everybody 
else. If you can give me a new charge, I will answer it. 

Q All right. You refute the lead in the story, 
that's it? Is there anything else in the story that you 
refute? 

MR. GREENER: Yes, the second paragraph. 

Q And the second. Anything else? 

MR. GREENER: I don't know. 

Q Does the President have ~y reaction to the 
House sustaining his veto on the tax bill? 

MR. GREENER: He is,obviously, quite pleased with 
it. 

Q We could not hear you. 

MR. GREENER: It was something about the tax bj:1.1. 

He asked me if the President was pleased about the 
House sustaining the veto and I said he was, obviously, 
quite pleased. 
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Q Bill, does the President expect any kind of 
action between now and the end of the year, a new tax bill o~ 
anything else? 

MR. GREENER: Well, the President outlined that 
last night in his message that he ~ead down here. 

Q He only said if there is time. 

MR. GREENER: Well, he cenainly hopes that something 
will be done. 

Q Bill, what steps is the President taking 
between now and Ch~istmas to get something done? Is he 
going to send anothe~ bill up there? 

MR. GREENER: I don't know exactly what they are 
wo~king on up there but the President stated last night what 
he thought should be done. 

Q Has the President indicated his intention to 
sign o~ veto the ene~gy bill? 

MR. GREENER: He has not. 

Q When do you expect him to disclose his decision 
on that? 

MR. GREENER: When he makes up his mind. 

Q Bill, House Democ~atic leaders previously said 
that if the veto is upheld on this bill they will simply 
send the same bill back to him. Would it be his intention to 
veto the same bill again and would he hold Congress ove~ in 
a special session until he gets a bill he can accept? 

MR. GREENER: Those are decisions that have not been 
made at this point, Russ. 

Q Bill, last night he indicated a commitment to 
holding down Fede~al spending accompanied with anothe~ bill 
like the one he vetoed would satisfy him. Is he tempe~ing 
his previous demand for a specific figu~e on a spending 
ceiling? 

MR. GREENER: I think I will just stand on his 
wo~ds. 

Q Bill, is it the President's belief that the 
Congress will go home without passing an extension of the 
tax cut? 
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MR. GREENER: It certainly is not the President's 
hope that they will. 

Q That was not my question. My question was 
does the President now think that Congress will just go home 
and let the taxes jump in January? 

MR. GREENER: 
particular point. He 
plenty of time and he 
action. 

I have not heard him address that 
certainly said last night that there was 
hopes that they will take the necessary 

Q Bill, can we pursue that question about the 
special session? 

MR. GREENER: I don't have an answer on that for you 
beyond what he has already stated. 
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Q Well, we were led to believe last week, 
I guess, that if the President were to call them back into 
special session he would not do so until after New Year's. 
Is the President still considering a special session now, 
and has he indicated that he would not ask them to come 
back until after the recess? 

MR. GREENER: Dick, I just said to that specific 
question I do not have an answer yet. 

Q You said those decisions which have not 
been made yet. 

MR. GREENER: That is correct. 

Q 
that right? 

Then, in fact, they are still open; is 

MR. GREENER: Yes, they are still open. 

Q Bill, can you say whether he is considering 
trying to get this done before Christmas as he stated 
yesterday, or would he be more inclined to try to get 
something worked out between Christmas and New Year's? 

MR. GREENER: He is hopeful that it will be done 
before Christmas, as he stated last night. As to what he 
is doing on that, Ann, I will just have to get on it. It 
has only been a few moments since the vote was taken, as 
you know. 

Q Bill, is the President considering any kind 
of Executive action that would make it unnecessary to 
increase withholding? 

MR. GREENER: I don't know that. 

Q Bill, is there concern in the White House 
that a tax increase in January would harm the economy? 

MR. GREENER: I believe Secretary Simon already 
addressed that question and I will stand on his words on it. 

Q Bill, a technical question: How does it 
work if the President wants to keep the Congress in session? 
Can he in fact do so? Does he have the power to do so? 

MR. GREENER: It is my understanding that he does , 
Bob, but I would have to get the full parliamentary 
procedure. 

It is in the Constitution that he can keep them 
in session. 
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Q He calls them back into special session. 
He can't keep them. 

MR. GREENER: They recess and then he calls them 
back into special session; is that correct? 

Q Bill, does the President have the authority 
to temporarily maintain account withholding.I"ates by 
Executive Ordei"? 

MR. GREENER: That is the question he asked, 
and I don't know that. 

Q He asked whethei" he is going to do it. 

MR. GREENER: He does not have the authority. 
John checked on it this moi"ning. 

Q Bill, it has been repeatedly said from 
that platform that the President would accept a concUI"'"ent 
resolution or possibly a sense of Congress resolution. Now, 
if Congress sends the same bill back along with one of 
these resolutions, would that take care of it? 

MR. GREENER: The President will look at it and 
I think he made a statement last night of what he wanted 
and I will just stand on his words, Howard. 

Q Bill, do you have any new word for us on the 
Angola situation and the Administration's view on it now? 

MR. GREENER: Nothing beyond what was said 
yesterday, Fran. 

Q Yesterday a Congressional Black Caucus 
charged that there were 25 to 50 U.S. advisers in the 
Angolan area. Do you stand by your statement yesterday? 

MR. GREENER: Certainly. 

Q Are there any U.S. advisers in the Angolan 
area, neighboring Zaire? 

MR. GREENER: I will have Margie get that double­
checked again. I stated on it yesterday and whatever I 
stated yestei"day is still true today. I checked on it just 
before I came out. 

Q Bill, the lettei" to Senator Stennis, if I 
could -- why has the President changed his mind about 
Mr. Bush as a possible Vice PI"esidential running mate? 
He had said earliei" he would not rule him out and now he 
says that he will not considei" him for Vice President. Why 
the change? 
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MR. GREENER: Well, one, as stated in the letter, 
Ambas.sador Bush asked him to do that because of the 
importance of the job and, two, I believe he also outlines 
the second reason there and that is he did not think that 
the post should ever be entailed in a six-month job. That 
is in the letter, though, Ted. 

Q Bill, on Angola again, yesterday I had a 
vague feeling we were not asking the right questions and 
I am going to try again. 

MR. GREENER: I can't believe it. 

Q You said in several different ways yesterday 
that there are no Government sponsored advisers in Angola. 
There is a report today that there are from five to eight 
CIA "reporters" or employees reporting on Angola and 
developments there. Is that true? They are there not 
advising. 

MR. GREENER: I have nothing beyond what I said 
yesterday. I will run that down again, if you like. 

Q Now wait a minute. 

MR. GREENER: You want me to answer? 

Q I am very aware of what you said yesterday. 

MR. GREENER: And you want me to answer whether 
or not there are five to eight CIA employees in Angola? 

Q Right. 

MR. GREENER: I don't have the answer to that; 
I will try to get it, Bob. 

Q Bill, a related question: What information 
does the Government have about technical representatives 
of American firms in Angola at this point? 

MR. GREENER: Technical representatives of American 
firms in Angola? 

Q Right. 

MR. GREENER: That is another question I will 
have to run down • 

Q Bill, on the Post story, did Dick Cheney 
ask Haig whether he had told other people in the White House 
that the President had assured him there would be a pardon? 
The Post story says that various people, including Buchanan 
and Garment and others, were informed by Haig that the 
President was favorable toward a pardon. 
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MR. GREENER: That is not quite what it says, 
is it? What does it say? 

Q Well, it says here, for one example, "A day 
or two after his meeting with Mr. Ford, Haig told another 
Nixon speech WI'iter, Buchanan, that the President had 
agl"eed to a pat."don for Nixon. This was after the 28th 
meeting." 

MR. GREENER: Keep reading. 

Q "Buchanan confit'Dled yesterday that he, too, 
had urged Haig to bring up the matter of a pardon and that 
afterward Haig indicated that a pardon was assured. Haig 
implied stl"'ngly that it was his personal intervention with 
the President that had secured the pardon, Buchanan said 
yesterday." 

Do you want me to continue reading? 

MR. GREENER: No. What is your question? 

Q The question is whether Cheney asked Haig 
whether he had been going al"'und the White House saying 
that a pardon was assured and that he had had an agreement 
from the President that there would be a pardon? 

MR. GREENER: No, that question didn't come up. 

Q What happened to the Leonard Garment 
memorandum that went to Buchen and to Haig? 

MR. GREENER: I have no idea what nappened to it 
except Mr. Buchen gave it back to Leonard Garment. 

Q Was the President aware that this existed? 
You said he didn't see it. Was he aware that it existed? 

Q Did Buchen discuss it with him? 

MR. GREENER: No, he did not. 

Q Why not, Bill? That seems kind of strange. 

MR. GREENER: Well, he said that he used it in 
preparation for the Q and A's that he put together on the 
press conference and that after the press conference he 
handed it back to Gal"Dlent. 

Q That Buchen used it 

MR. GREENER: Himself. 

Q -- in preparation 

MR. GREENER: Just had it there. 
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Q Was he aware that the memo existed? 

MR. GREENER: He does not recall it, no. 

Q Not only did he not see it but he does 
not recall its existence? 

MR. GREENER: No. 

Q Although it was used as part of the basis 
for answering questions? 

MR. GREENER: No, it was not used as part of the 
basis for answering questions. It was used as part of the 
basis of what Phil Buchen did in preparing Q's and A's. 

Q Bill, the Vice President said yesterday 
that he will not campaign in Florida nor in New Hampshire 
because in his words Callaway says that he, the Vice 
President, is a liability. How does the President feel 
about, number one, that the Vice President will not campaign 
for him, and how does he feel about Rockefeller's description 
of being a liability? 

MR. GREENER: It is not a question I discussed 
with him today, Cliff. 

Q Can you raise it with him? 

MR. GREENER: I certainly will. 

Q When you said yesterday that if anything 
was going to be said about the Angola situation from here 
the President would say it, do you expect a Presidential 
statement on American involvement in Angola today or any 
time soon? 

MR. GREENER: There are no plans at this time. 

Q Bill, can you tell us of any further u.s.-
Soviet communications on Angola? 

MR. GREENER : No. 

Q Bill, I believe on a question -- this has 
been brought up at the White House, and that is this report 
for the Secret Service, why does it take so long for them 
to report on how a guy managed to jump over the fence twice? 
I think you said -- I am not sure, but I think you said 
you would check on that~ Bill. I am not sure. 

MR. GREENER: Check on why it took so long? 

Q Yes. ~fuat is the Secret Service report? 
I mean, how have they explained it and why are they taking 
so long to do it, and so forth? Could you give us some 
enlightenment on that? 
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MR. GF.EENER: Nothing beyond the fact that I am 
sure they are trying to be as careful and accurate as 
possible. 

Q It takes three days for them to discover 
why a guy got over a fence? 

MR. GREENER: I am not: an expe:r:rt on that subject. 
I am just saying that I am sure they are trying to be 
careful and accurate in their repo:r:rt, Les. 

Q Reflective. 

Q Bill, to go back to the tax cut thing, you 
were asked a little bit ago if the President would accept 
this same bill that he vetoed if it came to him accompanied 
with a resolution to out spending by an equal amount and 
you said, "I just refer you to the President's statement." 
Well, looking at his statement, he said, "The Congress 
still has time before Christmas to send me back a tax out 
extension for 1976 coupled with a clear commitment to out 
the growth of Federal spending. " 

Can we take that to mean he will accept just 
an extension of this year's package rather than the $28 
billion one he proposed if it has the equal spending out? 
That seems to be what the President is saying here but, is 
that right? 

MR. GREENER: I don't think I want to interpret 
his words. It is right there; it is exactly what he said. 

Q 
this story? 

Bill, have you talked to Phil Buchen about 

MR. GREENER: Yes, I have. 

Q The story says that Buchen indicated that 
the President probably discussed the pardon with Haig after 
Ford's August 28 press conference. According to Buchen, 
the discussion occurred because Haig could have been upset 
at the answers at the press conference. 

Does Buchen, in fact, think that the President 
did discuss with Haig a pardon after the press conference? 

MR. GREENER: There is no recollection of it 
on the part of the President or General Haig. 

Q What about Buchen? Does Buchen still think 
that they probably had that discussion? 

MR. GREENER: They may have had a discussion 
on the questions and answers as given at the press conference 
but not to the extent that this 
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Q Did they in fact have a discussion about 
the answers and questions at the press conference? 

MR. GREENER: Not to the President. 

Oh, on the questions? 

Q Yes. 

MR~ GREENER: What did you ask me? Excuse me. 

Q Did Haig and the President talk after the 
press conference about the answers on the subject of the 
pardon that the President had given? 

MR. GREENER: Yes • 

Q And what did Haig say about the answers? 

MR. GREENER: There were five questions and 
General Haig mentioned that he thought that answer ~ 
was a little bit confusing in the context of the other four 
that were asked, and the President said to General Haig 
that as he recalls, to me, that he said to General Haig that 
he felt that he could have answered that question a little 
bit better himself in light of the other four. 

Q And you are saying that the substance of 
the question -- that is, whether Nixon would be pardoned or 
not -- did not come up in that August 28 discussion? 

MR. GREENER: Mort , all I can try to say once 
and for all is that the President of the United States has 
testified on this completely; he did it with candor and 
with truthfulness, and he stands on that testimony. I 
checked on the two specific items which everyone seemed to 
be interested in and that is, one, the allegation that he 
assured him on August 28,and he did not do that-- both 
General Haig and the President say it. I just don't see 
what we can gain by me going through that story step-by-step­
by step, line-by-line-by-line, except to say that the 
President's statement was truthful and candid and clear. 

Q I understand. Did Haig on the 28th, after 
the press conference, urge the President to pardon Nixon? 

MR. GREENER: Again, the President states and 
General Haig states that at no time--and,as a matter of fact, 
as long as you are quoting from it, General Haig says in 
the same story that he did not do it; that is in the last 
paragraph if you want to find it. 
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Q Does President Ford feel that the American 
aid to Angola has accomplished its purpose? 

MR. GREENER: What American aid to Angola? 
(Laughter) 

THE PRESS: Thank you. 

END CAT 12:35 P.M. EST) 
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spt't:if\ca lly ~;~id puhlid Y \\h!'ther he ;m el 
r rrsHk' nl Ford tliSt'l ~..:s!>d lht' CJII''"''"" .,, a 

pardon tnr :-.;i\OII 

.... . .. ~--·· . --. . 

~-~ · :- lti_ an interview last September. Hai~ 
den1ed published suggestions that he 
n1ight nave- pla yed a · kcy role in the 
P resident's decision. however. He ~aid at 
tht•t1me: - • . · 

" ... H's a trrrihk d~·rv;c~ to President 
Ford tn s uppose .tha t ne could be 
manipulatetl by smnethingc like this .. . It 
wasn' t my do in!! ... No oM was more 

· sens iti,·e than I to the reali>on!i {or not 
ll•"-·ominl! invo\vE'O· in this. 1 couldn't haVP. 
lw•·n a t'_rt·•htable ad\'tl(;;lll! [or a pilrdon 

a tl\" a\ ilaii ~~ no\1. s ta t1"n¥.d in Bnll',.,. ;,. ;o:\ lhP 
cumm.wclc·r nf :" .-\ T O f<li'C'~- ---
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.~A1T11h~ll6 R. h C.·····_, ... ... :·\ ... ·: ... ·N·.·/q·J;,:R. ,· .. d. 
: ~·:r e 1g t 9utse:\· on: ·. Ix()n:· ·. ~cor . s . 
ll"• -... ' ' I • l' ·. ', . .·:.-·,>,~ '· :~,·.i. '';~~-·:,• ·' J .: '. '• 

·• .'fhe massive documentary record of Richard NiX.; . ·tial docum.ents"and tape recordings ;in tl>,e General 
.< on's Preside~cy is to remain under the control of ·~. $Elrvices Administrati!)n. That he was singled out is 
· -· t~ federal government. This is what Con~. in- ,;i true. that this was unfair is not ·. · · · · . 
,' te'fl~ed by a'1974 la,'Y. 'and this is what prudent r~ "'" As .the J~tice Department argued. in opposing. ' 
' gard for maintaining the integrity of the material . Nixon'$ 'claiJti,)there is a "rational basis'' for believ- I 
dep1ands. . · · . ·· . . .. ._~. ' . : . ing that' the ~aw materials of his PreSidency could : 

·' · 4 three-judge federal court has rejected Nixon's 'undergo revision or even destruction in his hands.· 
.· contention that the law, is an unconstitutional viola- That rational basis refers to what happen~ to key 
· · tion of his .rights of privacy, free speech, free asso- · material.' duripg the attempted coverup of the 
.. c;auon and presidential privilege. In ·ruling thattne "'(Waterg;lte affair .. : · . • . · . . · . 
;_Jaw is constitutional, the court also implicitly ac.: ~ ;, . The court. decision vias on the limited grounds of 
;:. cepted the concern that gave riSe to it: the J)ossibiJ .. ·:·CUStodY ~d ·eontrol of the Nixon documents, not on 
· ity that the material, should it pass into Nixon's the; question of final ownership: In upholding the 
•: possession, might not survive intact. . · " . . · ''intent ·of Congress that the material should remain 

Nixon had argued that lte was beirig urifairly sfn .. < · is the.~ possession of the government, the court did 
. gljl~ out by Qle law vesting eustody.of his presiden· . the right and necessary thing. . .. . . 

. . I . , , . . . , , , , ' . . } . - i_, ·, •'- , • ~ 

!l' 



iChardson 
.. ;-~:{L: · ·::~.: . .:... •;··· 1 . ~. F \ 

, > .}:: tence< But, he said, , ''the facts should have 
\. <: ·>~. come Ol!t'' before any decision was made not 

ue:n. :.J:".IIIIIIL, , .. . to prosecute Nixon. 
·' ·Richardson, a victim of the "Saturday· night · 

•. . " re$igned ns ·attorney general In . 
· Octob~r, _1973, rather than carry out Nixon's . · 
orders to fire Archibald Cox, the first Water-

:·· gate special prosecutor. Ford named · Rich- · 
.. ardson ambassador to Great Britain. 

: In looking back on , Watergate, Richardso~ ' 
· ~etailed thr~e reasons he said the Nixon ad- ~ 
ministration ''went wrong." .. ' 
·. First; he.said, there werehhe flaws in Nix-. · 

. . .• ,on's own . c~aracter, his tendency toward ; 
., \'::~ · being :;uspicious of his opponents and consid- ; 
·i;:: , ering th~rp. his enemies .. ; ., his general !!,ttl-··· 
:: ::;;; :tude toward ~ecretiveness and a m~riipuhitlve (-" 
:· _;;(. approach toward his relationship with others >j· 

. :'::.:: on the (Capitol) llill ond others outside tile , 
· · ·. · :.::;;;,White House/• · :. . · ·' , · · . · . . ·. · 

. RICHA~osoN :>;;:: /· Next,' he sard, there. was .-th~ i'aggr;ndize:. .~> 
1ad· . . . . , . would have , .· : n1ent of the Presidency .,.;. the culmination of : : 
:led the · ·.. .require a 'fllll dis~ · a long developing trend and assumption that . 
3 ot aU allegations' against former Pres- · ·a strong Preslndency. requires t~e manipula- '.\ 
'lixon!·.rhls should have been followed, , tion of the press and other institutions." .. · :, . · 
d;; tlf;'a/ meetfug Qf ·executive'. depart•':, .. T~· ~it'd reason, Rjchardson said, ·was "a . 
and . congressional leaders -' to disc~ss .: -~. phenomen01) that is. ~h~tracteristic :of:JT\any ·, 
?r Nixon shou~d IJ<lV~ been: subje~ted , to 8 <:. American organizations'-;;.: !h~ ~rilployment of. .· ·• 
ic trial.· · · ·; ·. ~~ '~ ~i;: / • .. : ': :~~~;.;: :> · <X~ : ':;V · ·organization~minded individuals ~ith a loyal- · .. ·. 
hard S, o n':told · reporters ~ he •'.agreed ·", ty only to the organization they m1ght be with · 
Pi>r4's de~islon that· Nixon ·should nQt · < af any.giveri tl.me ... a h~ads-up, get-ahead· · .. 
becri subjected to~ . pos~'ql~ jail seri~ .. ~::,; 'at-and-cost attitude." ·: ':: i . : .. . 

: ~~ ...... . :! \.'' . ... : .. ~ ···.:..: · ~,::!."f,<1' ~:~··, ~ ... ~.,: ~·:· ~·."i,; ; : · !· ~ .~_, : · } ~· ! . ' ' .. :·.> . ..:·.·· . 
'-h>~.;. : .7~·~· : ·:;..f< ·!\·:;.~~·~~,.-.. ~:··, , · .. \,i~ffiW~;~ .. ; · ,~ ;f:;..:,;_ ,< ' . . . , :• : .. 

'reau .. cracy~· iv~sr·.;·,.: : .. · :; : ·..... . , . · ~· :"· · \. '< 

·Dead:< · etiAJ~:2Cl:thante · ··· · 
; ' . .,,» .. • ;)t9 •. ,, . AI:, .. ·:( "F : •, ·' :·,, ' •.' ', •.• ' •' .,. ' ; • ' . . • 

'Cia. i lo Th··. ' s.·u. , ..... ~. T/mot · ,.;~;,~~;u~.;~·~ ~. 't:.::~~ . ' i i; Th .. ~ depqrtment •·••. c:or~ect .. 0. n the d~y ot ' ~ 
. • .. ".. • . • ,')· T· •t· ' t · ' ··l '" .• " . ·. ' . . . . ' •. h .... dl d Jnn 1 tn CIIC r.r"C• ' 

; · .... · : .· .·· ~ ·. ~,;~ ... ; .. ~•.'" · •'·~· . . ·.· ·.·. ·'4·. ·.·.•:' . ·.d ~/:·\~.·.theman'sdellt ··"J e . .• ' "··' .·.· __ _ , .. ... ;' ...... ;·. ~EPORT,.J!~~~: ;t~-,.:'!llnols .. P~J~~l:Ai ~~·· .. ri ¥anoO{ursfng llo!Jle~:i;•.< ;,~.~t ··· .. : · J~ 
tmcnt rec~n , ., ~~~~: ~· . J.eH~f, ~.9:'~: ~~~.4 · · r,>J obn nouel/regioriOI Cfirccror cr the dcpnt1·) · 1 
~er.e •. : .:.h;1,~ ·'~'if5~~£~·\H~~~Ii#~ . mc;itls:·Arca r.;!ald the ll,ner li r:ol'nl. DPA · 
.· ~etter .. ;:J~Id:;~: eg !l~ng\Feb~,tlt lrzQ, :·~~~·i57/toutineJy :sep! to :pei'JOIU • .wh()M ll,s~let· . ·~ 
nediCJil ; as~!s~nl~A'ft'!lU~FjdJs~~~~~~.i;~lJ.nce ' lll!lY~ ~}..eliminAted , .!Jf',paJment~ · rc· ,:;: 
has be,J:~~.-t~. f!)~o_~~~T!.{9~ ~~~f:~~~ifi~:d¥~.~:'!~ ·,c~~; 9! ~.~a~ " ·· polnlccf ~·· 1\ICh \~ 



)ljcl{(iJiiSORfipfi!siBS .. , 
':I Disopp~~!~s ~!Porion 

\J\ Washington, Jan. 28 ~ .. Fort:ner ,Attorney Gimeral 
\• Elliot Richardson,. i~ hi~ _most d~tail.ed public disc~ssion of 
, \ the Watergate affair, satd today that he thgouht 1t was a 

mistake for President Ford to have granted a pardon to 
Richard Nixon. 

Richardson, who joins Ford's 
cabinet as secretary of commerce 
next Monday, told reporters be 
would have handle<L the Nixon 
ease differently •. He . said he 
would have made public all the 
evidence ·against the fonner 
President, and would have con­
sulted leaders of Congress and 
the attorney ·general · before 
·deciding :whether or not to 
prosecute. 

Possible Running )late ·' .... 
His comments, which implicit. 

ly criticized his boss's judgment, 
came only ·six· days ·after Ford. 

· included him in a list of possible 
vice~ presidential running mates .... 

A ~1lite House . spokesmati: 
said the President was aware fJf 
Richardson's criticism of the 
Nixon pardon before picldng him 
for the cabinet and did not re­
gard it as anything new. Ford. 
and Richardson agree on the end 
result - no jail for Nixon -'­
and disagree only on the proce­
dure, the spokesman pointed out. · .. 

Richardson, who resigned· as­
Nixon's attorney general fl,t the 
height of the Watergate furor, 
has just returned to 'Washingto 
after two years as ambassado 
in London.· · 

Itiight Disdain It · 
He said he was "flattered" to 

be named by Ford. along with" 
seven other Republicans, as a 
potential vice president. But he 
added, a trifle haughtily, that.he 
had not made up his mind 
whether he would accept or re. 
ject the job if it were offered. 

Richardson said he would 
make political speeches on behalf 
of the President in New Hamp· 
shire and ~iassachusetts, as most 
Cabinet members are .doing, but 
added, "I don't expect to do any 
substantial campaigning." 

, 



MEMORANDUM FOR: 

FROM: 

THE WHITE HOUSE 

WASHINGTON 

January 30, 1976 

DICK CHENEY 
JACK MARSH 

RON NESSEN 

Bob Woodward and Carl Bernstein are completing their book on the 
last days of Nixon. They are holding open the last chapter concerning 
the pardon, for about another week in hopes that we can clear up what 
they call "inconsistencies" in the versions told publically by the President 
and privately to them by many of the individuals involved. (Woodward 
says he is convinced that there was no "deal" or any other major problem 
for the President.) 

In addition to providing the last chapter for the book, any information from 
the White House would be used, Woodward says, for a news story in the 
Washington Post following up on a short series of stories on the pardon which 
he wrote a rr,onth or so ago. 

Here is the information Woodward says he has from interviews with various 
participants: 

On August 27, 1974, Len Garment wrote an "impassioned" three-page 
memo pleading for a pardon for Nixon. Garment says one copy was delivered 
to Haig, and another to Buchen in plain envelopes at the 8 am senior staff 
meeting on August 28. 

Earlier that morning, beginning at 6 am, Ray Price had drafted an opening 
statement for the President• s news conference later that day, announcing 
a pardon for Nixon. Buchen says he never saw such an opening statem.ent. 
Price says Haig and Garment told him to write the statement. 

Haig told Garment at 10 am on August 28, in a phone conversation, "Stand 
by for a meeting. 11 It (a pardon announcement)is going to happen. There are 
some legal questions. You may have to get with the Ford people. 1

' Within 
an hour, Haig called Garment back and said, "Never mind. It (the pardon) 
is going to happen, but not today. There are some legal questions to 
straighten out.'' 



-2-

Haig, Garment, and Price were convinced that the President would 
announce the pardon at his August 28 news conference. To a lesser 
extent, Buchen and Buzhardt were convinced he was going to announce 
it then. 

The President held the news conference at 2:30pm on August 28, and 
did not announce a pardon. 

That is the information Woodward says he has received from the participants. 

Woodward would like the following questions answered: 

1. Did anything President Ford say lead Haig, Garment, and Price 
to believe a pardon would be announced August 28, and to prepare 
an opening statement for the news conference announcing the 
pardon? 

2. Did Haig, Garment, and Price actively urge the resident to 
grant a pardon? 

3. When did the President make up his mind to grant the pardon, 
and when did he tell members of the White House staff? 

4. What discussion of the pardon took place on August 27 and 
August 28 during preparation sessions for the news conference, 
and post-mortum after the news conference? 

Find attached the pertinent sections of the August 28 news conference, 
the President's testimony before the Hungate Committee, and the 
Woodward stories from the Post on the pardon. 
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There is a rec:or;unenda.tion from some of my advisers 
saying that, if the ec0nomy gets any more serious, that 
this ought to be a program, a broader, more-expensive 
public service prograrr.. He will approach this problem 
with compassion and action if there is a need for it. 

QUESTION: Mr. President? 

THE PRESIDE~T: Yes. 

QUESTION: Sir, two political questions: Do you 
definitely plan to run for President in 1976, and if so, 
would you choose Governor Rockefeller as your running mate, 
or would you leave tnat choice up to the Convention's 
free choice? 

THE PRESIDEHT: I will repeat wha·t has been said 
on my behalf, thai: I t-lill probably be a candidate in 1976. 
I thinK Governor Rockefeller and myself are a good team but, 
of course, the final judgment in this matter will be that of 
the delegates to the national Convention. 

·-----------~~~~--~--~~~~-~~~~-·----·--·-·------------------, QUESTION: Mr. President, may I just follow 
up on Helen's question: Are you saying, sir, that the 
option of a pardon for former President Nixon is still an 
option that you will consider, depending on what the courts 
will do? 

THE PRESIDENT: Of course, I make the final 
decision, And until it gets to me, I make no corruni tment 
one way or another. But I do have the right as President 
of the United Sta~:es to make that decision. 

QUESTION: And you are not ruling it out? 

THE PRESIDENT: I am not ruling it out. It is an 
option and ~ proper option for any President. 

QUES~ION: Mr. President, do you feel the Special 
Prosecutor can in good conscience pursue cases against 
former top Nixon aides as long as there is the possibility 
that the former President may not also be pursued in the 
courts? 

, 
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Now, ~he expr~ssion made by Governor Rockefeller, 
I think, coin~ides ~ith the general view and ~he point of 
view of the American people. I subscribe to that poin~ of 
vieu. But let me add, in the last ten days or two weeks 
I have asked for prayers for guidance on this very important 
point. 

In this situation, I am the ;=·::~~~~·~-__,, 
There have been no charges made, there has b2en no action 
bi the courts, there has been no action by any jury and, li 
untll any legal process has been undertaken, I think it is 
unwise and ~ntimely for me to make any commitment. 

Yes, sir. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, you have been in 
office 19 days now, and already some of your natural 
conservative allies are grumbling that you are moving 
too far to the left. Does this trouble you? 

"THE PRESIDENT: I don't think I have deviated 
from my basic philosophy nor have I deviate.d frcrr1 what 
I think is the right ac~ion. I have selected an outstanding 
person to be the Vice President. I have made a decision 
concerning amnesty, ~hich I think is right and proper --
no amnesty, no revenge -- and that individuals wh~ have 
violated either the draft laws or have evaded Selective 
Service or deserted can earn their way, or work their 
way,back. I don't think these are views that fall in 
the political spectrum right or left. 

I intend to make the same kind of judgments in 
other matters because I think they are right a~d I think 
they are for the good of the country. 

QUESTION: !!r. President, may I follmv that with 
one more example, possibly, that is there is a report that 
the Administration is considering a $4 billion public wo~Ks 
program in case the inf!.:1tion r~te gets higher than it is, 
say s~x perc~nt. Is ~hat under consideration? 

THE PRESIDENT: I think most of you know that 
we do have a public service employment program on the 
statute books which is funded right torlay, not for a~y 
major pro~rarn, but to ~ake care of those areas in our 
country where there are limited a:reas of unemployment 
caused by the energy crisis or any other re.:1son. 



I have supplied the subcommittee with a 
copy of this memorandum. The memorandum lists matters 
still under investigation which -- and I quote -- "may 
prove to have some direct connection to activities in 
which Mr. Nixon is personally involved." 

The Watergate cover-up is not included 
in this list and the alleged cover-up is mentioned only 
as being the subject of a separate memorandum not 
furnished to me. Of those matters listed in the 
memorandum, it is stated that none of them at the moment 
rises to the level of our ability to prove even a probable 
criminal violation by Mr. Nixon. 

This is all the information I had which 
related even to the possibility of formal criminal 
charges involving the former President while he had been 
in office. 

The second question in the resolution asks 
whether Alexander Haip, referred to or discussed a 
pardon with Richard Uixon or his representatives at any 
time during the week of August 4, 1974, or any subsequent 
time. My answer to that question is: not to my knowledge. 
If any such discussions did occur, they could not have 
been a factor in my decision to grant the pardon when 
I did because I was not at.;are of them. 

Questionsthree and four of House Resolution 
1367 deal with the first and all subsequent references 
to or discussions of a pardon for Richard M. Nixon,. 
with him or any of his representatives or aides. 

I have already described at length ,-.~hat 

discussions took place on August 1 and 2, 1974, 
and how these discussions brought no recommendations or 
commitments whatsoever on my part. 

These were the only discussions related to 
questionsthree and four before I became President, but 
question four relates also to subsequent discussions. ------------------------·1 

At no time after I became President on August 9, j 
1974, was the subject of a pardon for Richard M. Nixon f 
raised by the former President or by anyone representing J. 
him. Also, no one on my staff brought up the subject until 
the day before my first press conference on August 28, 
1974. 

At that time I was advised that questions on 
the subject might be raised by media reporters at the 
press conference. 

MORE 
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As the press conference proceeded, the first 
question asked involved the subject, as did other later 
questions. In my answers to those questions, I took a 
position that while I was the final authority on this 
matter, I expected to make no commitment one way or 
the other, depending on what the Special Prosecutor 
and courts would do. However, I also stated that I 
believed the general view of the American people was 
to spare the former President from a criminal trial. 

Shortly afterwards, I became greatly concerned 
that if Mr. Uixon's prosecution and trial were prolonged, 
the passions generated over a long period of time would 
seriously disrupt the healing of our country from the 
wounds of the past. I could see that the new Administration 
could not be effective if it had to operate in the 
atmosphere of having a former President under prosecution 
and criminal trial, 

Each step along the way I was deeply concerned 
would become a public spectacle and the topic of wide 
public debate and controversy. 

As I have before stated publicly, these 
concerns led me to ask from my own legal counsel what my 
full right of pardon was under the Constitution in 
this situation and from the Special Prosecutor what 
criminal actions, if any, were likely to be brought 
against the former President, hol-t long his prosecution 
and trial would take. 

As soon as I had been given this information, 
Mr. Chairman, I authorized my counsel, Philip Buchen, 
to tell Herbert J. Miller as attorney for Richard M. 
Nixon of my pending decision to grant a pardon for the 
former President. I was advised that the disclosure was 
made on September 4, 1974, when Mr. Buchen,accompanied 
by Benton Becker, met with Mr. Miller. 

Mr. Becker had been asked, with my concurrence, 
to take on a temporary special assignment to assist 
Mr. Buchen at the time when no one else of my selection 
had yet been appointed to the legal staff of the White 
House. 

The fourth question, Mr. Chairman, in the 
resolution, asks about"negotiationsttwith Mr. Nixon or 
his representatives on the subject of a pardon for the 
former President. The pardon under consideration was 
not so far as I was concerned a matter of negotiation • 
I realizedthat unless Mr. Nixon actually accepted the 
pardon I was preparing to grant, it probably would not 
be effective. 

MORE 
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Questions eight and nine of House Resolution 
1~67 deal with the circumstances of any statement 

reques.ted or received from Mr. Nixon. I asked for no 
confession or statement of guilt, only a statement in 
acceptance of the pardon when it was granted. 

No language was suggested or requested by anyone 
acting for me, to my knowledge. My counsel advised me 
that he had told the attorney for Mr. Nixon that he 
believed the statement should be one expressing 
contrition and in this respect, I was told Mr. Miller 
concurred. 

Before I announced the pardon, I saw a 
preliminary draft of a proposed statement from·Mr. 
Nixon, but I did not regard the language of the statement 
as subsequently issued to be subject to approval by 
me or my representatives. 

The tenth question, Mr. Chairman, covers 
any report to me on Mr. Nixon's health by a physician 
or psychiatrist which led to my pardon decision. I 
received no such report. Whatever information was 
generally known to me at the time of my pardon decision 
was based on my own observations of his condition at the 
time he resigned as President and observations reported 
to me after that from others who had later seen or talked 
with him. 

i 
t 
I 

No such reports were by people qualified to 
evaluate medically the condition of Mr. Nixon's health, 
and so they were not a controlling factor in my decision. 
However, I believed, and still believe, that prosecution 
and trial of the former President would have proved a 
serious threat to his health, as I stated in my message 
on September 8, 1974. J 

House Resolution 1370 is the other resolution 
of inquiry before this subcommittee. It presents no 
questions, but asks for the full and complete facts 
upon which was based my decision to grant a pardon 
to Richard M. Nixon. I know of no such facts that 
are not covered by my answers to the questions in House 
Resolution 1367. 

--~'-'.i»-c .. 'HiS5 .. -----=-....... ~~...::::,0.•..\>~..;.;..;c..,o.'ISI.;;;~~4'~ .. >"~~~"t 
Also, subparagraphs one and four, there were no 

representations made by me or for me and none by Mr. 
Nixon or for him on.which my pardon decision was 
based. 

Subparagraph two, the health issue is dealt 
with by me in answer to questions ten of the previous 
resolution. 

MORE 

\ 
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ClmoonR•• DENNIS: Inank you, Chairman. 

Mr. President, I would like to state that I, 
too, share with my colleagues, deep appreciation for 
your appearance here before our subcommittee this 
morning. 

Mr. President, on page 7 of your statement 
where you were talking about your first or your second 
interview with General Haig in the afternoon of August 1, 
you state that, "I describe this meeting because at one 
point it did include references to a possible pardon 
to Mr. Nixon." 

I take it that you have spelled out what 
thos~ references were over on pages 9, where the options 
are spelled out and on page 10 \-lhere you state that you 
inquired as to what was the President's power pardon. 

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, it is spelled out in the 
item instances 1 through 6, various options involving 
a pardon. 

CONGRESSMAN DENNIS: And does that include 
everything that was said at that time on the subject of 
pardon, substantially? 

THE PRESIDENT: Yes, sir. 

CONGRESSMAN DENNIS: Mr. President, I note 
that on pa~e 10 you state that you asked the General as 
to what the President's pardon potver 1-1as and he very 
properly replied that he had certain information but 
couldn't give legal opinion. 

When, where, and from whom•did you ultimately 
obtain the opinion that you were entitled under the 
Doctrine of Ex Parte Garland and so on, to issue a 
pardon when there has been no charge or no conviction? 

THE PRESIDENT: When I came back to the _O_v_a_l __ ¥"' 
Office, Mr. Dennis, following the press conference en 1 
August 28, where three questions were raised by the 1 
news media involving a pardon, I instructed my counsel, J 
Mr. Buchen, to check in an authoritative way what 
pardon power a President had. And he, several days later 

1

1 
I don't recall precisely -- came back and briefed me on 
my pardon power as President of the United States. 

MORE 
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CONGRESSMAN HUNGATE: Yes, sir. 

THE PRESIDENT: Somebody asked~out when I 
last saw the President. I said that I had seen him 
on the 9th. I did as he departed, but I had also seen 
the President the morning of the 8th at the time I was 
asked to come and see him, and at that time we spent an 
hour and 20 minutes together, or thereabouts, when he 
told me that he was going to resign. 

So, I saw him both the 8th and the 9th, 
just to make the record accurate. 

CONGRESSMAN HUNGATE: All of us are aware of 
our time constraints. I yield to the gentleman from 
Wisconsin for a question. 

CONGRESSMAN KASTENMEIER: Thank you, Mr. 
Chairman. 

I would like for the record to indicate that 
the statement of the gentleman from Maryland, Mr. Hogan, 
the effect that the proposal that this subcommittee 
tried to contact certain staff members, such as General 
Haig and others, was supported by me. 

I think it would have been excellent. We 
have in the past done very well in terms of staff work 
preliminary to hearings that might have helped put 
some of the questions Mrs. Holtzman had to rest. 

Mr. President, you indicated that as far as 
Mr. Haig was concerned, that he had suggested certain 
options to you, but did not in fact make a recommendation 
to you with respect to the pardon, is that correct? 

THE PRESIDENT: That is correct. I answered 
that, I think, as fully as I could in my prepared state­
ment. He discussed the options. He made no recommendation. 

,__,.......-.·,-~--·-~- ..... --..,-.-- ~ --------
CONGRESSMAN KASTENMEIER: Which other persons \ 

to you personally made recommendations that the former \\ 
President be pardoned from that time in early August 
to the day of September 6 when you made your decision? \ 

THE PRESIDENT: No other person, to my 
knowledge, made any recommendation to me from that time 
until the time that I made a decision about September 6;_j 
nobody made any recommendation to me for the pardon of 
the former President.· 

MORE 
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